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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EEHE

| am pleased to present the annual results for the year ended
31 March 2019 of Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) on behalf of the
Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company. The Group is
a maritime services provider in Hong Kong with over 20 years of
operating history. Services of the Group include (i) vessel chartering
and related services; and (i) ship management.

2019 is a year of transition for the Group when we successfully
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited on 18 March 2019 (the “Listing”). During the year,
the Group has been awarded the contract of vessel chartering
and related services by the marine construction contractors of
several marine infrastructure projects in Hong Kong, including
the Integrated Waste Management Facilities Phase 1 project in
Shek Kwu Chau (IWMF Project”), and Tung Chung New Town
Extension project (“Tung Chung Project”). We expect the demand
of the Group’s vessel chartering and related services for these
marine construction projects will increase steadily in the future.

The Group’s financial position is solid and the Group will utilise
the fund raised from the Listing as planned to expand its vessel
fleet, in order to grasp the market opportunities. The Listing has
enhanced the market position and reputation of the Group and
has strengthened our business connections with suppliers and
customers, as well as potential customers related to the newly
launched construction projects.
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The Group’s success this year relies on the efforts made by all
our staff and the management team during the past year. | would
like to express my sincere gratitude on behalf of the Board to the
management and staff for their tremendous efforts and valuable
contribution in the past year and hope that we will continue to
receive all your support in the future. We will continue to join hands
with the shareholders and staff members to turn to a new and
brighter future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a maritime services provider in Hong Kong with over
20 years of operating history. The principle activities of the Group
are provision of (i) vessel chartering and related services; and (i)
ship management in Hong Kong. The Group’s vessel chartering
and related services include () time charter services; (ii) voyage
charter services; and (iii) other related services, such as provision
of crew members, maritime consultation services and vessel repair
and maintenance services. The Group provided its time charter and
voyage charter services through its vessel fleet, which comprises
(i) 21 self-owned vessels and (i) vessels chartered from third-party
vessel suppliers from time to time.

During the year, the Group provided its vessel chartering and
related services mainly to the marine construction contractors
of several marine infrastructure projects in Hong Kong, including
the Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge project (‘HZMB Project”),
the Three-Runway System project in the Hong Kong International
Airport (“8RS Project”), IWMF Project and Tung Chung Project.

The shares of the Company had successfully listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange on 18 March 2019 (“Listing Date”).
With a widening financing platform, the Group can have more
financing channels to raise funds to fulfil capital needs. The Listing
also enhances the Group’s market position and further strengthens
the Group’s reputation in the industry, which in turn helps
maintaining the existing business relationship with the network
of suppliers and customers and exploring potential business
opportunities with new suppliers and customers.

BUSINESS PROSPECTS

As there are numbers of high-profile development projects and
infrastructure projects related to marine construction works initiated
by the government of Hong Kong in recent years, the management
of the Group expects the demand of the Group’s vessel chartering
and related services for these marine construction projects would
increase steadily, and such projects are expected to contribute to
the Group’s revenue in the future. The Group will continue to invest
in its vessel fleet in order to capture such business opportunities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The revenue and profits from the Group’s ship management
business is expected to remain stable going forward.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s total revenue decreased by approximately 15.0%,
from approximately HK$213,048,000 for the year ended 31
March 2018 to approximately HK$181,010,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2019. Such decrease was mainly attributable
to the decrease in the revenue of the Group’s vessel chartering
and related services by approximately 17.0%, from approximately
HK$187,792,000 for the year ended 31 March 2018 to
approximately HK$155,954,000 for the year ended 31 March
2019, which was mainly due to (i) the significant decrease in
revenue derived from the Group’s time charter services provided to
the construction contractors of the HZMB Project due to the fact
that this project had been substantially completed during the third
quarter of 2018; and (i) due to the delay in the work progress of
other major marine construction projects such as IWMF Project and
Tung Chung Project, the number of the Group’s vessels chartered
to these projects increased moderately only since the third quarter
of 2018.

T8 HA AN & [ e 30 T 3R S 0 0 Mk & K g

RRHERITIRE ©

Bt %% [E1 g8

g
AEENRBREZHEBEE=-ZE—N\F=
A=+—H15%E2213,048,000% T
ML IR EBE_T—NLF=A
=+—BIEFE4181,010,000% T °
KB P ETERARAEBMNMMEE
K A8 B8 AR 75 Wz R > #917.0% + B &R
E-E-N\EZRA=+—HBILtEEH
187,792,000 B TRV EEHE=ZT— 1
F=H=+—HIEF/E#% 155,954,000
B FERAR(AEERBLRRK
BEEAEEREN T HAEMBRBE KA
A@Ed  RERZEEEEZZ—N
FEZHTR  R()BERIWMFIER &
REEESHEMEEBEREREENT
BEFEER  ASEMZEEEHEED
MMBEEA T —N\FE=FEUKRE
HEM -



Cost of revenue

The Group’s cost of revenue primarily consists of vessel chartering
costs, staff costs and related expenses, subcontracting fees, repair
and maintenance expenses, fuel costs, depreciation expenses,
and other costs. The cost of revenue decreased by approximately
16.6%, from approximately HK$152,070,000 for the year ended 31
March 2018 to approximately HK$126,855,000 for the year ended
31 March 2019. The decrease of the Group’s cost of revenue was
in line with the decrease in the Group’s revenue of approximately
15.0% for the year ended 31 March 2019.

Gross profit and gross profit margins

The Group’s gross profit shrank by approximately 11.2%, from
approximately HK$60,978,000 for the year ended 31 March 2018
to approximately HK$54,155,000 for the year ended 31 March
2019, which was mainly due to the decline in the revenue of
vessel chartering and related services during the year. Meanwhile,
the Group’s gross profit margin increased by approximately 1.3
percentage point from approximately 28.6% for the year ended
31 March 2018 to approximately 29.9% for the year ended 31
March 2019, which was mainly due to the aforesaid decrease in
the revenue derived from time charter services provided to support
the HZMB Project during the year as the overall gross profit margin
attributable to this project was relatively lower than that of other
marine construction projects such as the 3RS Project.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEER mEAS T

Other income

The Group’s other income increased by approximately 72.6%,
from approximately HK$1,337,000 for the year ended 31 March
2018 to approximately HK$2,308,000 for the year ended 31 March
2019. Such increase was mainly due to the recognition of a service
income of approximately HK$910,000 related to vessel sourcing
services during the year ended 31 March 2019, which was non-
recurring in nature.

Other gains and losses

The Group’s other gains decreased by approximately 99.6%, from
approximately HK$3,920,000 for in the year ended 31 March 2018
to approximately HK$15,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019.
Such decrease was mainly due to the recognition of non-recurring
gains on sales of a modified vessel of approximately HK$3.9 million
for the year ended 31 March 2018.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately
30.7%, from approximately HK$19,813,000 for the year ended
31 March 2018 to approximately HK$25,901,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2019, which was mainly due to the increase
in the administrative expenses, including the donation made to
the Community Chest and the professional fee after the Listing,
including auditor’s remuneration and share registration fee.
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Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs decreased by approximately 86.0%,
from approximately HK$50,000 for the year ended 31 March 2018
to approximately HK$7,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019,
which was mainly due to the decrease in average bank borrowings
during the year ended 31 March 2019.

Share of results of associates

The Group’s share of results of associates was decreased by
approximately 45.2% from approximately HK$1,563,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2018 to approximately HK$856,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2019. Such decrease was mainly due to the
decrease in the share of results of associates contributed by Scenic
Shipping.

Listing expenses

Listing expenses represented professional fees incurred in
connection with the Listing being recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. Listing expenses recongised for the
years ended 31 March 2018 and 2019 were approximately
HK$3,886,000 and approximately HK$14,596,000, respectively.
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Income tax expenses

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group’s income tax
expenses were approximately HK$5,077,000 (2018: approximately
HK$7,880,000), and the effective tax rate (excluding the non-
recurring Listing expenses) was approximately 16.2% (2018:
approximately 16.4%).

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year attributable to owners
of the Company

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s profit for the year
attributable to owners of the Company decreased by approximately
63.7%, from approximately HK$32,398,000 for the year ended
31 March 2018 to approximately HK$11,753,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2019. If the non-recurring Listing expenses
were excluded the adjusted net profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company would have decreased by 27.4%, from
approximately HK$36,284,000 for the year ended 31 March 2018
to approximately HK$26,349,000 for the year ended 31 March
2019. Basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the
Company decreased from approximately HK3.99 cents for the year
ended 31 March 2018 to approximately HK1.43 cents for the year
ended 31 March 2019.
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Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2019.

Trade and other receivables

The Group’s trade and other receivables increased by
approximately 33.2%, from approximately HK$42,080,000 as at
31 March 2018 to approximately HK$56,049,000 as at 31 March
2019, which was mainly due to the increase in the Group’s trade
receivables as at 31 March 2019 as a result of the increase in the
Group’s revenue during the first quarter of 2019 as compared to
that for the corresponding period.

The Group’s trade receivables turnover days increased from
approximately 76.0 days for the year ended 31 March 2018 to
approximately 87.7 days for the year ended 31 March 2019,
which was primarily due to the aforesaid higher trade receivables
recorded as at 31 March 2019.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group had net current assets of approximately
HK$149,352,000 as at 31 March 2019 (2018: approximately
HK$43,646,000). The Group’s current ratio increased from
approximately 2.0 as at 31 March 2018 to approximately 6.6 as at
31 March 2019, such increase was mainly as a result of the cash
flow from the net proceeds generated from the Listing during the
year ended 31 March 2019.

Gearing ratio is calculated based on the total debts (including bank
borrowings and amount due to Novel Choice) divided by total
equity at the respective reporting date. As at 31 March 2019, the
Group’s gearing ratio was nil (2018: approximately 19.1%), as the
Group’s bank borrowings had been fully repaid and the amount
due to Novel Choice had been fully discharged during the year
ended 31 March 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Following the Listing, the Group’s operations were mainly financed
by internal resources including but not limited to existing bank
balances and cash, cash flows from its operating activities and the
net proceeds generated from the Listing and bank borrowings. The
Board believes that the Group’s liquidity needs will be satisfied.
With strengthened liquidity position, the Group is able to expand in
accordance with its business strategy.

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

The Group incurred capital expenditure of approximately
HK$4,898,000 during the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018:
approximately HK$514,000), mainly represented the addition of a
vessel.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 March 2019, the Group had no significant capital
commitments (2018: nil).
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group did not have any significant investment during the year
ended 31 March 2019.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

During the year ended 31 March 2019, apart from the
Reorganisation as set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not have any material acquisitions and
disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2019, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities (2018: nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Directors are not aware of any significant event which had
material effect on the Group subsequent to 31 March 2019 and up
to the date of this report.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGSHREEEREFE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy, aged 51, an executive Director, the
Chairman of the Board, the chief executive officer of the Company
and one of the Controlling Shareholders. He is the co-founder
of the Group. He is also a Director of various subsidiaries of the
Group. Mr. Wen is the spouse of Ms. Chan Sau Ling Amy and the
son of Mr. Chow Wai Ming’s cousin.

Mr. Wen has over 20 years of experience in the maritime services
industry in Hong Kong. Mr. Wen founded Yun Lee Tug Boat
Company Limited, being the subsidiary of the Group with the
longest operating history, with his father in November 1994 and
has been responsible for the overall management of the Group’s
operations and business development since then.

Mr. Wen has been a Committee member of The Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference Tenth Beihai Committee since
September 2016. He has been a member (Launch & Excursion
Vessels’ Operations) of The Local Vessels Advisory Committee of
the Marine Department since December 2016. He has been the
President of Hong Kong & Kowloon Motor Boats & Tug Boats
Association Limited since August 2017.

Ms. Chan Sau Ling Amy, aged 48, an executive Director. Ms.
Chan was appointed as a Director on 7 March 2018 and was re-
designated as an executive Director on 7 March 2018. She is also
a Director of various subsidiaries of the Group. Ms. chan is the
spouse of Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy.

Ms. Chan has over 20 years of experience in the maritime services
industry in Hong Kong. She obtained a national diploma in hotel,
catering and institutional operations issued by Tresham College in
the United Kingdom in June 1992. Ms. Chan joined the Group in
April 1995 and has been responsible for the overall management of
the Group’s finance and administrative matters since then.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Hon Por Francis, aged 65, an independent non-
executive Director, the Chairman of the Nomination Committee
of the Company, a member of the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee of the Company. He is primarily
responsible for providing independent judgment on the Group’s
strategy, performance, resources and standard of conduct.

Mr. Liu has over 27 years of experience in the marine industry in
Hong Kong. He obtained a Certificate for Navigating Officer Cadets
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic (currently known as the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University) in November 1974 and a Master of
Business Administration (M.B.A.) from the University of Ottawa in
Canada in May 1997. Mr. Liu joined the Marine Department as a
marine officer in April 1986. He was promoted to principal marine
officer in November 1996, to assistant director of marine in June
2004 and to deputy director of marine in February 2008.

Mr. Wu Tai Cheung, aged 61, an independent non-executive
Director, the Chairman of the Audit Committee of the Company,
a member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. He is primarily responsible for
providing independent judgment on the Group’s strategy,
performance, resources and standard of conduct.
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Mr. Wu has over 35 years of experience in accounting and
corporate finance. He obtained a Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy
from Bolton Institute of Higher Education (currently known as the
University of Bolton) in the United Kingdom in October 2002 and a
Master of Business Administration from The University of Newcastle
in Australia in December 2004. Mr. Wu has been () a Member and
a Fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
since December 2002 and December 2007, respectively; (i) an
Associate of the Hong Kong Society of Accountants (currently
known as the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants)
since October 20083; (iii) an Associate of The Taxation Institute of
Hong Kong since November 2003; (iv) an Associate of The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries since October 2008; and
(v) an Associate of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators since October 2008. He was the independent non-
executive Director of Munsun Capital Group Limited (stock code:
1194) for the period from October 2016 to March 2019, the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
and the Chief financial officer and company secretary of Yee Hop
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1662), the shares of which are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

Mr. Fu Bradley, aged 34, an independent non-executive Director,
the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee of the Company, a
member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company. He is primarily responsible for providing independent
judgment on the Group’s strategy, performance, resources and
standard of conduct.

Mr. Fu has over 12 years of experience in real estate private equity
and corporate finance. He obtained a Bachelor of Science from the
Leonard N. Stern School of Business at the New York University
in the United States in May 2006. Mr. Fu is currently the Head of
Acquisitions, Private Real Estate Equity — Asia Pacific at Heitman
International HK Limited, a corporation licensed to carry out Type
1 (dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type
9 (asset management) of the regulated activities under the SFO.
Mr. Fu has been a member of the Urban Land Institute since June
2013.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheung Tai Kee, aged 65, a director of MKK Marine Services
Limited (“MKK Marine”). He joined the Group in August 2014 and
is primarily responsible for the overall management of the Group’s
ship management services.

Mr. Cheung has approximately 30 years of experience in the
marine industry. He obtained a Bachelor of Science in Maritime
Business from Polytechnic South West (now known as Plymouth
University), United Kingdom in July 1991. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Cheung was a licensed Senior Harbour Pilot of Hong Kong
Pilots Association Limited from November 1994 to July 2015.
He previously held the Certificate of Competency (Deck Officer)
Class 1 (Master Mariner) issued by the Government of the United
Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland in January 1987,
which was later replaced by the Certificate of Competency issued
under the Provisions of The International Convention on Standards
of Training, Certification and Watchkeeping for Seafarers 1978, as
amended in 1995, issued in August 2003. Mr. Cheung is currently
an authorised surveyor pursuant to section 7 of the Merchant
Shipping (Local Vessels) Ordinance for a period of three years from
October 2017.

Mr. Chow Wai Ming, aged 53, a senior manager of the Group and
a director of MKK Marine. He first joined the Group in November
1994 as a manager and was subsequently promoted to senior
manager in January 2009, is primarily responsible for the overall
management of the Group’s vessel chartering and related services.
Mr. Chow is the cousin of Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy’s father.
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Mr. Chow has over 20 years of experience in the maritime services
industry. He has been examined by the Marine Department and
has been considered competent to take charge of a motor over
150 B.H.P. from March 1995. He also holds the Local Certificate
of Competency — Coxswain and Pleasure Vessel Operator
Certificate of Competency, both issued by the Marine Department,
in December 2013 and January 2014, respectively. Furthermore,
Mr. Chow holds (i) a Certificate of Training for Shipboard Crane
Operator Safety Training Course issued by Origin Production
Limited T/A The Hong Kong Safety Training Association in
December 2015, which indicates that Mr. Chow could operate
crane types one to five; (i) a Certificate of Training for Works
Supervisor Safety Training Course issued by Origin Production
Limited T/A The Hong Kong Safety Training Association in April
2016, which indicates that Mr. Chow could supervise shipboard
cargo handling work; and (i) a Certificate of Competent Person
and Certified Worker issued by Occupational Safety & Health
Management Institute in April 2016. Mr. Chow has also been the
Honorary President of The Institute of Port Facility Security Officers
(Hong Kong) since May 2016.

Mr. Mui Yuk Wah, aged 35, is the financial controller and
company secretary of the Company. He joined the Group in 2018
and is primarily responsible for the financial reporting and financial
control matters, and the company secretarial matters of the Group.

Mr. Mui has over 10 years of experience in auditing, accounting
and handling company secretarial matters. He obtained a Bachelor
of Social Science in Economics from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong in December 2007 and has been a Certified
Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since October 2012. He was a Director and Company
Secretary of Aurum Pacific (China) Group Limited, a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8148) for the period from
February 2016 to March 2017 and February 2016 to August 2016
respectively. He was a Company Secretary of HongDa Financial
Holding Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1822) for the period from May 2017 to November 2017.
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The Board hereby presents this corporate governance report in the
Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2019.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board of the Company is committed to achieving high
corporate governance standards. The Board believes that good
corporate governance standards are essential in providing
a framework for the Company to safeguard the interests of
shareholders, enhance corporate value, formulate its business
strategies and policies, and enhance its transparency and
accountability. The Company has adopted the principles and code
provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)
as the basis of the Company’s corporate governance practices

In preparation for the Listing, the Company engaged an
independent internal control adviser (the “IC Adviser”) to perform a
review of the procedure, system and control (including accounting
and management systems) of the Group. Based on its internal
control review, the IC Adviser recommended certain internal control
improvement measures to the Group and the Group has adopted
them. The Directors were of the view that the internal control
systems were adequate and sufficient in the circumstances.
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CODES COMPLIANCE

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions of
the CG Code and has complied with the CG Code since Listing
Date and up to 31 March 2019, except in relation to provision A.2.1
of the CG Code which requires that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy, an executive
Director, is both the chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer of the Company. With over 20 years of experience in the
maritime industry in Hong Kong, Mr. Wen has been responsible for
the overall management of the Group’s operations and business
development and has been instrumental to the Group’s growth and
business expansion since November 1994. The Board considers
that vesting the roles of chairman and chief executive officer in the
same person is beneficial to the management of the Group. The
balance of power and authority is ensured by the operation of the
senior management and the Board, which comprises experienced
and high-calibre individuals. The Board currently comprises two
executive Directors (including Mr. Wen) and three independent
non-executive Directors and therefore has a strong independence
element in its composition.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
regarding securities transactions (the “Securities Dealing Code”)
by the Directors and employees who, because of his office or
employment in the Group, is likely to possess inside information of
the Company.

In response to specific enquires made by the Company, all
Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code and the Securities Dealing
Code for the year ended 31 March 2019.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company is not aware of
any incident of non-compliance of the Securities Dealing Code by
the relevant employees

Since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report, no
general meeting was held. The annual general meeting (“AGM”) of
the Company will be held on 28 August 2019.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions
and performance and should take decisions objectively in the best
interests of the Company.

The Board regularly reviews the contribution required from a
Director to perform his responsibilities to the Company, and
whether the Director is spending sufficient time performing them.

During the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Board consists of five directors, comprising two
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.
The composition of the Board is set out as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Chan Sau Ling Amy

Independent Non-Executive Director
Mr. Liu Hon Por Francis

Mr. Wu Tai Cheung

Mr. Fu Bradley

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 16 to 20 of this annual report.

The relationships between the Directors are also disclosed in the
respective Director’s biography under the section “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 16 to 20 of
this annual report.
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Attendance Records of Directors and Committee Members

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times a
year involving active participation, either in person or through
electronic means of communication, of a majority of Directors.
The attendance record of each director at the Board and Board
Committee meetings held during the year ended 31 March 2019 is
set out in the table below:

BEERZEEHMSNHIETL
ErgrleaREeFE 0 RTHR
REHDEERFHE - B BEF R
FEEB2E - REFHERBE-T
—NWF=ZR=+—"RLFERTZESF
GhREFEZEEEHRITHANT
*x

|
Attendance/Number of Meetings

HERE ERRE

Nomination Audit Remuneration

Board Committee Committee Committee

Name of Director EEHE g REEEE EREEE FNEEE
Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy & F£E%c 4 2/2 N/AZ3E N/AZ3E N/AZ i A
Ms. Chan Sau Ling Amy  BRFEX L+ 2/2 N/AZ 3 F N/A 3 F N/AZ 3 A
Mr. Liu Hon Por Francis ~ BUZE K L4 2/2 N/AZ 3 F N/AZ 3 A N/AT 3 A
Mr. Wu Tai Cheung ERRFE 2/2 N/A 3 A N/AT 3 A N/AiE A
Mr. Fu Bradley REEEE 2/2 N/AZ~E A N/AZ~E A N/AT 3 A

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy, an executive Director, is both the chairman
of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company.
With over 20 years of experience in the maritime industry in Hong
Kong, Mr. Wen has been responsible for the overall management
of the Group’s operations and business development and has
been instrumental to the Group’s growth and business expansion
since November 1994. The Board considers that vesting the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer in the same person is
beneficial to the management of the Group.

Independent Non-executive Directors

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive Directors, representing
at least one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in respect of his
independence in accordance with the independence guidelines set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view
that all independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors
The independent non-executive Directors of the Company are
appointed for a specific term of three years, subject to renewal after
the expiry of the then current term.

The Company’s articles of association (the “Articles of
Association”) provides that all Directors appointed by the Board to
fill a casual vacancy shall be subject to re-election by shareholders
at the first general meeting after appointment.

Under the Articles of Association, at each annual general meeting,
one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if their number is
not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not
less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.

Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control
of the Company, and is collectively responsible for directing and
supervising the Company’s affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies and
overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group’s operational
and financial performance, and ensures that sound internal control
and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are responsible for
ensuring a high standard of regulatory reporting of the Company
and providing a balance in the Board for bringing effective
independent judgement on corporate actions and operations.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices
held by them.
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The Board reserves for its decision all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant operational matters of the Company.
Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions of the Board,
directing and coordinating the daily operation and management
of the Company are delegated to the management under the
supervision of Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy, the Chairman.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and
changes in order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant.

Every newly appointed Director will receive formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure appropriate understanding of the business and
operations of the Company and full awareness of Director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements.

Directors are encouraged to participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors will be
arranged and reading material on relevant topics will be provided to
Directors where appropriate.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, all Directors have been given
the training regarding the duties and responsibilities of being
a Director, the relevant laws and regulations applicable to the
Directors and duty of disclosure of interest.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee on 20 September 2018, for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the
Company are established with specific written terms of reference
which deal clearly with their authority and duties. The terms of
reference of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee are posted on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange and are available to shareholders upon
request.

The majority of the members of each Board committee are
independent non-executive Directors and the list of the chairman
and members of each Board committee is set out under the
section headed “Corporate Information” on page 2 of this annual
report.

Audit Committee

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board
in reviewing the Company’s financial information, overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems, reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness of the
internal audit function, scope of audit and making recommendation
to the Board on the appointment of external auditor, and reviewing
the arrangements for employees of the Company can use to raise
concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal
control or other matters of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the date of this
Annual Report, the Audit Committee held two meetings to discuss,
in respect of the year ended 31 March 2019, the audit planning
with the auditors and to review and annual financial results and
reports and significant issues on the financial reporting, operational
and compliance controls, the effectiveness of the risk management,
appointment of external auditors and relevant scope of works.
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Remuneration Committee

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual Executive Directors and senior
management, the remuneration policy and structure for all Directors
and senior management; and establishing transparent procedures
for developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure
that no Director or any of his/her associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

During the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the date of this
Annual Report, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting
to review and made recommendation on policy and structure for
Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration; to review and
approve the management’s remuneration proposals with reference
to the corporate goals and objectives of the Board; and to
review and determine on the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management.

Nomination Committee

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board composition, making recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorship, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors,
and assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors.

The Company also recognises and embraces the benefits of
having a diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance.
The Board has adopted a “Board Diversity Policy” (the “Policy”)
which sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board
and the Nomination Committee is responsible for monitoring the
implementation of the Policy. In assessing the Board composition,
the Nomination Committee would take into account various
aspects as well as factors concerning Board diversity as set out
in the Policy, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, or professional experience etc. The
Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions which may be
required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.
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During the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the date of this
Annual Report, the Nomination Committee held one meeting to
review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board and the Policy, and
made recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy; to assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; and to
review and make recommendation to the Board on re-election of
retiring Directors.

Corporate Governance Functions
The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

The Board had reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management, the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and the Securities
Dealing Code, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in this corporate governance report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the remuneration paid/
payable in respect of the services provided by the Group’s external
auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, are set out below:
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group does not have an internal audit function due to the
size of the Group and for cost effectiveness consideration. The
Board has the direct responsibility to maintain effective risk
management and internal control systems in order to safeguard
the Group’s assets and investments and the shareholders’ interest
and conducts a review on an annual basis. The Group continues
to review the need for an internal audit function annually. During
the year under review, the Board had conducted review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Company in aspects of the Group’s financial, operational,
compliance controls and risk management functions through the
effort of the Audit Committee.

MAIN FEATURES OF THE RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

The Group’s risk governance structure and the main responsibilities
of each level of the structure are summarised below:

The Board is responsible to determine the business strategies and
objectives of the Group, and evaluate and determine the nature and
extent of risks it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic
objectives; ensures that the Group establishes and maintains
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems; and oversees management in the design, implementation
and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems.
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The Audit Committee is responsible for assisting the Board to
perform its responsibilities of risk management and internal control
systems; overseeing the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems on an ongoing basis; reviewing the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems at
least annually, and such review should cover all material controls
including financial, operational and compliance control; ensures the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions; and considers major findings on
risk management and internal control matters, and reports and
makes recommendations to the Board.

Senior management of the Group designs, implements and
maintains appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems; identifies, evaluates and manages the risk that
may potentially impact the major processes of the operations;
monitors risk and takes measures to mitigate risk in day-to-day
operations and provides confirmation to the Board and the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems.
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RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

In addition to the Board’s oversight responsibilities, the Company
has developed a risk management process to identify, evaluate
and manage significant risks and to resolve material internal control
defects. Senior management of the Group is responsible for the
annual risk reporting process. Independent external consultant
meets with various members of the senior management to review
and assess risks and discuss solutions to address material internal
control defects, including any changes relevant to a given year.
Risks are compiled, ratings are assigned and mitigation plans are
documented. The risk assessment is reviewed by certain members
of the senior management and presented to the Audit Committee
and the Board for their review.

Risks are evaluated by the Board and the Group’s senior
management based on (i) the severity of the impact of the risk on
the Company’s financial results; and (i) the probability that the risk
will occur.

Based on the risk evaluation, the Company will manage the risks as
follows:

- Risk elimination — the Group’s senior management may
identify and implement certain changes or controls that in
effect eliminate the risk entirely.

- Risk mitigation — the Group’s senior management may
implement a risk mitigation plan designed to reduce the
likelihood, velocity or severity of the risk to an acceptable
level.

- Risk retention — the Group’s senior management may decide
that the risk rating is low enough that the risk is acceptable for
the Company and that no action is required. The risk would
continue to be monitored as part of the risk management
program to ensure the level of risk does not increase to an
unacceptable level.
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INSIDE INFORMATION DISCLOSURE POLICY

The Company adopted an inside information disclosure policy
(the “Inside Information Disclosure Policy”) which sets out the
procedures for the handling and dissemination of inside information
with a view to preventing uneven, inadvertent or selective
dissemination of inside information and ensuring shareholders and
the public are provided with full, accurate and timely information
about the activities and the financial condition of the Group. The
Inside Information Disclosure Policy covers the following:

* setting out the processes for identifying, assessing and
escalating potential inside information to the Board;

* setting out the responsibilities of officers in preserving the
confidentiality of inside information, escalating upwards any
such potential information and cascading down the message
and responsibilities to relevant staff; and

e identifying who are the Company’s authorised spokespersons
and their responsibilities for communications with
stakeholders of the Company.

In addition, the Company has communicated to all relevant staff
regarding the implementation of the Inside Information Disclosure
Policy.

The Board considers that the Company’s existing measures are
effective and appropriate compliance mechanisms to safeguard the
Company and its officers in discharging their disclosure obligations
in respect of inside information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2019.

The statements of the independent auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 71 to 77 of this annual report
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Mr. Mui Yuk Wah, who
fulfils the qualification requirements laid down in the Listing Rules.
Biographical details of Mr. Mui are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” of this
annual report. During the year ended 31 March 2019, Mr. Mui has
taken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, separate
resolutions should be proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of individual
Directors. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results
will be posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange after each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles of Association, an extraordinary
general meeting shall also be convened on the requisition of one or
more shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
having the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall
be made in writing to the Board or the company secretary for the
purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two calendar months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or the Cayman
Islands Companies Law for shareholders of the Company to move
new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders of the Company
who wish to move a resolution may request the Company to
convene a general meeting in accordance with the procedures set
out in the preceding paragraph. As regards proposing a person
for election as a director of the Company, please refer to the
“Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as
a Director” of the Company which is posted on the Company’s
website.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
shareholders of the Company may send written enquiries to the
Company. The Company will not normally deal with verbal or
anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details
Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned
above to the following:

Address:  Flat D, 31/F., Billion Plaza Il,

10 Cheung Yue Street,

Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Email: info@yunlee.com.hk

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or
enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide
their full name, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company endeavours to maintain an on-
going dialogue with shareholders and in particular, through annual
general meetings and other general meetings. At the annual general
meeting, Directors (or their delegates as appropriate) are available
to meet shareholders and answer their enquiries.

The Company maintains a website at www.yunlee.com.hk as
a communication platform with the shareholders and investors,
where the financial information and other relevant information of the
Company are available for public access.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted the amended and restated
Memorandum and Articles of Association pursuant to a special
resolution passed by the sole shareholder on 20 September
2018. Since then, the Company has not made any changes to its
Memorandum and Articles of Association. An up to date version of
the Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association is also
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SCOPE AND REPORTING PERIOD

This is the first Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)
report of Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited (the Company,
and together with its subsidiaries referred as the Group),
highlighting its ESG performance, with disclosure reference made
to the ESG Reporting Guide as described in Appendix 27 of the
Main Board Listing Rules and Guidance set out by The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

This ESG report covers the Group’s overall performance in two
subject areas, namely, Environmental and Social of the business
operation in Hong Kong from 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019
(the “Reporting Period”), unless otherwise stated. The business
operation includes:

_~ Nautical instrument;

_~~ (Chartering services include tugs; launches and other vessels;

_~~ Ship management services;

_~ Maritime transportation;

_~ Provision of crew members;

_~ Maritime consultation services; and

_~ \/essel maintenance, repair and installation services.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY

In order to identify the most significant aspects for the Group to
report on for this ESG report, key stakeholders including investors,
shareholders and employees have been involved in regular
meetings and engagement sessions to discuss and to review areas
of attention which will help the business meet its potential growth
and be prepared for future challenges.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has specifically engaged
board members, senior management, frontline staff, sub-
contractors and customers to gain further insights on ESG material
aspects and challengers. Top 5 material aspects have been
identified:

1. Development and Training;

2. Occupational Health and Safety;

3.  Customer Service;

4. Product/Service Quality; and

5. Employment.

The Group aims to keep close communication with its stakeholders

and to continue improving its ESG performance and management
on ESG-related risks for future business development.

STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on ESG approach
and performance. Please give your suggestions or share your views
with us via email at info@yunlee.com.hk.
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THE GROUP’S ESG COMMITMENT

The Group believes ESG engagement is an essential approach
to minimize environmental and social risks which eventually leads
to continual business growth towards future success. Therefore,
the Group is committed to work conscientiously on environmental
and social aspects, and to integrate sustainability consideration in
decision making process for on-going business operation.

The Group has maintained close attachment to the industry bodies
and taken role in relevant trade organization. As the member of
Hong Kong and Kowloon Motor Boats and Tug Boats Association
Limited, the Group is able to share and to communicate ideas,
foster friendly relationships and collaborations with other industry
bodies, receive updates in related to occupational health and safety
and environmental regulations, and obtain advice and assistance of
accident insurance in related to work-related injury.

The Group strives to provide promising and quality products
and services. In order to assure vessel safety and quality, annual
inspections are performed by chartered surveyors and operation
license is renewed regularly. All frontline staff are required to
strictly follow the Code of Safe Working Practice, which ensures
that their practices are liable to all the rules governing by laws and
regulations.

The Board understands its overall responsibility for the Group ESG
strategy and reporting. The Group reviews and monitors several
aspects in ESG such as risk management policies, annual budgets,
business plans, performance objectives and implementation, and
progress against goals and targets for addressing climate-related
issues.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A1. Emissions

The Group aims to grow and to deliver returns to shareholders
without environmental detriment. The Group strictly abides by
the local laws, rules and regulations enforced by the Marine
Department and Environmental Protection Department related to
environmental protection and pollution control, including but not
limited to the followings:

_~ Merchant Shipping (Prevention and Control of Pollution)
Ordinance, Chapter 413;

_~ Merchant Shipping (Prevention of Oil Pollution) Regulations,
subsidiary legislation under Chapter 413;

_~ Merchant Shipping (Control of Pollution by Noxious Liquid
Substances in Bulk) Regulations, subsidiary legislation under

Chapter 413;

=~ Merchant Shipping (Prevention of Air Pollution) Regulation,
Chapter 413P;

_~Air Pollution Control Ordinance, Chapter 311;
_~ Air Pollution Control (Fuel for Vessels) Regulation, Chapter
311AB;

_~Air Pollution Control (Marine Light Diesel) Regulation, Chapter
311Y;

_—~~ Dumping at Sea Ordinance, Chapter 466; and

_~ \Nater Pollution Control Ordinance, Chapter 358.

During the Reporting Period, no cases of material non-compliance
in relation to air and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, discharges
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste was recorded.
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A11 Air Emissions

During the Reporting Period, relatively small amount of petrol was
used as fuel consumption for passenger vehicles. Nevertheless, air
emission generated via maritime transportation is not presented in
this report due to insufficient information for the emission factor of
light diesel oil. The overall activity contributed to the emissions of
2.04 kg of nitrogen oxides (NOx), 0.24 kg of respiratory suspended
particles (PM) and insignificant amount of sulphur oxides (SOx).

A1.2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Throughout the Reporting Period, the Group business operation
contributed to an emission of 1,104.75 tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent (tCOze) (mainly carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous
oxide), with an intensity of 3.26 tCO2/m? of total office area. In view
of the maritime business nature, a significant amount of light diesel
oil was used as fuel supply for the operation of vessels, which
accounts for 97% GHG emission.
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GHG Emission Total GHG Emission
Scope of Greenhouse Gas Emissions Emission Sources (in tCO2e) (in %)
BEREHHRE BEERBHERE
BERBHEMEE BERUORIR (M-S tHmEE) (AZtE)
Scope 1 Direct Emission
HIE1 EEHEN
Combustion of fuel for Light Diesel Ol 1,065.94 97%
mobile sources R
T B AR B 45 R Petrol 7.45
R
Scope 2 Indirect Emission
RS2 ME PR
Purchased electricity 25.25 2%
ERESE
Scope 3 Other Indirect Emission
EHE 3 A hEE BN
Paper waste disposed at landfills 1.95 1%
HEHEZERR
Business air travel 4.16
M 22 = ik
Total 1,104.75 100%
we
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Note: Emission factors were made reference to Appendix 27 of the Main Board
Listing Rules and their referred documentation as set out by Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited, unless stated otherwise.

Note: Emission factor for calculation of emission from light diesel oil was made
reference to the Emission Factors from Cross-Sector Tools of Greenhouse
Gas Protocol.

A1.3 Hazardous Waste

The Group’s business did not involve in generation of any significant
hazardous waste, hence no information related to hazardous waste
is being presented in this report.

A1.4 Non-hazardous Waste

A total amount of 0.41 tonnes of non-hazardous waste was
generated from the operations in the offices. It was mainly
commercial waste paper from office to be disposed of at landfills.

A1.5 Measures to Mitigate Emissions

Navigation Source

In view of reducing potential impacts to the environment, marine
light diesel oil with 0.05% sulphur content is applied for all local
vessels, as pursuant to the Air Pollution Control (Marine Light
Diesel) Regulation, Chapter 311Y of Hong Kong law and regulation.
Lowered sulphur content in fuel result in reduction of SOx and PM
emissions by 90% and 30% respectively.

The Group also adopts control measures on dark smoke emission
from vessels. Ships and vessels are operated and maintained with
due care. Annual inspections are performed to all the owned ships
and vessels by chartered surveyors to ensure that the engines are
in proper operation. Ringelmann Chart was used as an objective
method to examine the smoke emissions, which to strictly ensure
no excessive smoke, i.e. dark smoke which is as dark as or darker
than shade 2 on the Ringelmann Chart for 3 minutes or more
continuously at any one time, shall be emitted from vessels.
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Road Transport Source

In order to minimize environmental pollution associated to vehicle
use, the Group monitors and regulates the fuel consumption,
conducts routine maintenance on vehicles, and encourages
employees taking public transport.

Business Air Travel

The Group keeps tracks of employees’ business travels and their
relative carbon emission throughout the Reporting Period. Site
visits were often needed due to business nature, nonetheless the
Group shall encourage employees to make use of teleconferencing
or videoconferencing systems for reducing carbon footprint causing
by business air travel.

A1.6 Wastes Handling and Reduction Initiatives

Instead of disposing of as hazardous waste, the Group developed
general practice by transferring used lubricating oil to other
business partners for possible reuse. The non-hazardous waste
generated during the Reporting Period was mainly waste paper.
The Group advocates waste reduction and resource reuse
practices. For instance, waste paper was collected at designated
point, while 50% of single-sided printouts were reused for notes
and scrap paper. The Group continues to look for paperless office
solutions, such as paperless conferencing and electronic document
to further save paper consumption.
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A2. Use of Resources

Although the Group has not established standard policies on
the efficient use of resources, it is committed to encouraging
employees of resource conservation practices in offices.

A2 1Energy Consumption

The Group’s business operations resulted in a total energy
consumption of 5,034,518 kWh from the use of light diesel oalil,
petrol and purchased electricity, with an intensity of 14,855
kWh/m?2.

Re. &EiFEH
BEAEBEVWELTEYFAERNZ
ERE WNRHISBEIERAEEH
BER -

A2l BEF I FEE
AEBEEXBEBEFERELLER AR
EEEENMBENBEREREE A
5,084,518 T LI + ZE £14,855F &
B,k e

Consumption Consumption

(in individual unit) (in kWh)

HIEE HEE

Energy Consumption Sources BETRH FE2RIR (B E) (FEE)
Electricity ES) 49,500 kWh T FLiF 49,500
Light Diesel Oil R LE 492,050 Litres F+ 4,959,823
Petrol i 2,764 Litres Ft 25,195

AZ.2 Water Consumption

Water consumption of the Group’s operations was minimal, and
water were mostly supplied by the building management office and
included in the management fee, thus no consumption record is
reported here.
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A2.3 Energy Use Ffficiency Initiatives

The Group promotes energy-saving initiatives and suggests green
procurement in administrative offices’ operation. When purchasing
equipment, priority is given to those with higher energy efficiency.
Employees at office are advised to adjust air conditioning at
optimal temperatures during summer and winter for energy saving
pUrposes.

A2.4 Water Use Efficiency Initiatives
The Group’s business did not involve significant use of water,
hence no information related to water use efficiency initiatives is
being presented in this report.

A2.5 Packaging Material

The Group’s business operation did not involve use of packaging
materials, hence no data nor information is being presented in this
report.

A3. The Environment and Natural Resources

A3.1 Significant Impacts of Activities on the Environment

The Group strives to minimise the environmental impacts
associated with vessel chartering and maritime transportation
services. Owing to the major impacts from light diesel oil, initiatives
to reduce the associated impacts. In terms of ship operation,
the Group strictly enforces the usage of clean fuel with lowered
sulphur content on ships, which cut the emission being generated
and preserve the environment. In addition, with proper operation
procedure and time-to-time maintenance and repair service, the life
span and performance of maritime vessels could be extended and
fully optimized.
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Rig - HEREAERS

B. SOCIAL

1. EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

B1. Employment

The Group had a total number of 116 employees as of 31 March
2019, of which all were full-time employees from Hong Kong.
The total workforce sorted by gender, age group and employee
categories are shown below.

B. #E
1. ERREIER
B1. {E&E

HE_Z-—NF=A=+—10 ' 55H
HE6RET 28 ATE2BE
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DISTRIBUTION OF EMPLOYEES BY EMPLOYMENT TYPE DISTRIBUTION OF EMPLOYEES BY GENDER
EREERESNES S BEREDHIES D
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@ Senior Management
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DISTRIBUTION OF EMPLOYEES BY AGE GROUP
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BRI - HERERHE

Competitive Compensation and Benefits Package B F T 1% B 15 7
The Group strictly complies with all applicable laws and regulatons ~ AR EBEREFHRERNERLSTE
in relation to employment and practices, including but not limited to R EVEFAERER - BIEETRRIAT

the followings: AR

= Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57; = BIEEGE 5T ZERBIED) ;

_~ Employment of Children Regulations, Chapter 57B; - BB EDESTBE(ER A R E
1)

_~ Sex Discrimination Ordinance, Chapter 480; BB A B F 480 E(H B B 1R K
1)

_~ Disability Discrimination Ordinance, Chapter 487; - B A B 487 ECE K I AR 1§
1)

_~ Family Status Discrimination Ordinance, Chapter 527; - BB LR E 527 BEARE M AR
151

_~ Race Discrimination Ordinance, Chapter 602; = BB A 602 EBE Tk 1R &
1)

_~ Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, Chapter 486; and = BB LD FE 486 Z(E A E #H(FL

BB - &

_~ Minimum Wage Ordinance, Chapter 608. - BB LD F608E(H K T & 1§
1) o

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not note any cases of ~ R ¥REHAR - AL B R EFHRE( 5 B
material non-compliance with employment laws and regulations in & & f#{& « BEERFE - TIERRE - K
relation to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, S - FEHE - ZT RREEHE
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunities, diversity and anti- K EKERERGHIER -
discrimination. _— =
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Employee Handbook is applicable to all employees, including office
staff and crews. The Handbook provides details on employment
(recruitment, probation, transfer, promotion, termination, retirement),
work schedule (hours of work, rest days, statutory holidays and
early release), remuneration, leaves, employee benefits, training,
and various human resources related policy.

All employees are entitled to the employee benefits including
provident fund, group medical insurance, compensatory leave and
business trip travel allowance. To strengthen the bonds among
employees, annual dinner and dinner gatherings are regularly
organized to provide better communication platforms.

Appraisal System

The Group develops a systematic appraisal system to evaluate
employees’ performance and capabilities. The Group reviews
employees’ salary and annual bonus together with work
performance, manpower supply and demand and market
environment. Through annual performance assessment, the
Group helps to set clear performance goal for employees’ career
development; employees’ opinions on the workplace are reflected
to the Group to strengthen communication in between; and
employees can understand the Group’s expectations.

Turnover

The Group believes continual improvement on employment
system is essential for long-term business growth. A total of 50
employees left the Group during the Reporting Period, of which
all were frontline staff, with a turnover rate of 43%. Most of the
employees left the Group upon the completion of project at Hong
Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge. Exit interview is conducted with all
resigned individuals, as a strategic tool to monitor, analyse and
reduce turnover rate. Valuable feedback earned are analysed to
identify the concerns of current employees and improvement areas,
in terms of Group’s benefits, flexibility, training opportunities, career
advancement and work culture.
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TURNOVER RATE BY AGE GROUP (IN PERCENTAGE)
BRERERSISHEIRAE (A2t

56 or above
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TURNOVER RATE BY EMPLOYMENT TYPE (IN PERCENTAGE)
REBEERASNETIRAE (A2t

Frontline and

seRTi Lt — other staff e 46%
) iannaT e i ———
464_1565552 S — 50%
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26-35
26358 O " Senior
18.05 majagement 0%
18258  ° BREEE
0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%
Equal Opportunity FERE

The Group upholds the transparency and fairness manner at
workplace. Equal opportunities are given to employees in respect
of recruitment, training and development, job advancement,
termination, compensation and benefits. Employees are not
discriminated against or deprived of such opportunities on the
basis of gender, ethnic, background, religion, colour, age, marital
status, family status, retirement, disability, pregnancy or any other
discrimination prohibited by the applicable laws and regulations.

B2. Employee Health and Safety

The Group is dedicated to ensuring occupational health and safety
of office staff and crew members and complying with all applicable
laws and regulations in Hong Kong, including but not limited to the
followings:

In relation to safety survey of local vessels

_~ Merchant Shipping (Local Vessels) Ordinance, Chapter 548;

_~~ Merchant Shipping (Local Vessels) (Certification and
Licensing) Regulation, subsidiary legislation under Chapter
548; and

_—~ Merchant Shipping (Local Vessels) (Safety and Survey)
Regulation, subsidiary legislation under Chapter 548.
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B -mELENSTAREERHT
FHeg-BETSENMN Bk B
ROFRE EE - FiK - BEKR R
EAR - BK - RE - BPIERER
FARBIFrZE I 2 R AR A E -
BXBERIRAERE -

B2. EERERZZE
REBBMOBRBAEAE MM E R
¥pppEtsr WETHEBERANSES
A EEBN BEEFRERAATE
I8 :

BRI & 2 2 R

= BB E P £ 548 B M (K i M
E)EDI)

= & B A F 548 E KT & A BICHE M
(KM &) (BRHELEREE)R
) &

= BB LD F 548 E M B OE PIKE M
(A& ) (L2 Rimig) 1))



Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited 8T/ % £EEE AR A R

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

In relation to occupational health and safety operation

_~ Factories and Industrial Undertakings Ordinance, Chapter 59;

_~ Qccupational Safety and Health Ordinance, Chapter 509;

_—~ Shipping and Port Control (Works) Regulation, Chapter 313X;

_—~ Merchant Shipping (Local Vessels) (Works) Regulation,
Chapter 548,

_~~ Merchant Shipping (Local Vessels) (Compulsory Third Parties
Risks Insurance) Regulation, subsidiary legislation under
Chapter 548,

_~ Merchant Shipping (Safety) (Signals of Distress and Prevention
of Collisions) Regulations, subsidiary legislation under Chapter

369;

_~~ Merchant Shipping (Safety) (Load Line) Regulations, subsidiary
legislation under Chapter 369;

_~ Employees’ Compensation Ordinance, Chapter 282; and

_~~ Dangerous Goods Ordinance, Chapter 295.

During the Reporting Period, no cases of material non-compliance
in relation to health and safety laws and regulations is noted. Safety
survey and inspection of vessels is conducted regularly to verify
and to confirm its readiness and safety for navigation in sea areas.
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The Group sets up internal policies related to providing safe work
environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards.
Gambling, smoking, alcohols, drugs and other health risk activities
are strictly forbidden on boarding of the ships. Code of Safe
Working Practice is available for crew members, deck crew team
and engineering crew team, for the purpose of providing practical
guidance in respect of the equipment safety, maintenance,
operation safety and response to emergency of vessels. Air purifier
which effectively filters particulate matters is installed in office to
improve indoor air quality. Air conditioning system and carpeting
are maintained and cleaned on quarterly basis to improve work
environment and employees’ health.

Work-related Fatality and Injury

For the year ended 31 March 2019, 2 work-related injuries were
recorded, with a total 37 lost days recorded. Review meetings
were organized to discuss accident prevention and rectification
measures.
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Occupational Health and Safety Data in 2018/2019
—E-N\ZE-NERERREZZHIE

Work related fatality THT-FW 0
Work injury cases >3 days ERBEZR=ZEHNIE 2
Work injury cases <3 days FEREBELRFIFER=ZANIHE 0
Lost days due to work injury EIEmEBERNIIER 37

B3. Development and Training

The Group understands development and training programme is
essential to equip employees with professional knowledge and skills
needed to grow with the business. During the Reporting Period, the
total training hours and the average training hours per employee
were 140 hours and 1.21 hours per employee respectively.
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PERCENTAGE OF EMPLOYEES TRAINED BY EMPLOYEE TYPE
ERBERE 2 NZE T LA

Frontline and

PERCENTAGE OF EMPLOYEES TRAINED BY GENDER
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The Group designs and arranges scheduled trainings to the staff
in response to their different needs and skills required during daily
business operations. Orientation training is organized for new staff,
wherein they are introduced to the rules and regulations of the
Group and instructed to follow in the workplace. Internal trainings
for employees generally fall in the following categories: work
safety, fire safety, occupational health, first aid skill, environmental
protection, use of equipment and work procedures. These trainings
aim to strengthen employees’ knowledge, competency, productivity
and effectiveness which related to their job positions and response
to emergency for fire, collision and cargo falling when executing
daily maritime operation.

Crew members from engineering department and deck department
receive trainings on recognised maritime courses and followed
by in-service training in regard to maintenance of machinery and
electrical appliances onboard, navigation of vessels and handling
and maintaining of cargo. With certain qualifications attained,
crew members are eligible to serve as the particular positions in
the vessels and meet customers’ requirement for the rendering of
services at particular sites.

Employees in senior management level or above attend both
internal and external corporate management skill training courses in
acknowledging their rights, obligations and legal responsibilities in
corporate level.
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The Human Resources Department reviews the training and
development arrangement on a regular basis to enhance the
effectiveness of internal governance and ensure every employee
receives training opportunities for their career advancement.

B4. Labour Standards

There was no child labour nor forced labour in the Group’s
operation, as pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter
57 of the Laws of Hong Kong. Job applicants’ identification
documents are checked to ensure that the employees are legally
entitled to work for the Group or otherwise employment contract
is not entered. The Human Resource Department conducts
reference check for new employees to ensure compliance with all
the applicable labour laws and regulations. All existing employees
have signed and agreed on the terms laid out in the employment
contracts. No material non-compliance in relation to prevention of
child and forced labour was recorded during the Reporting Period.

2. OPERATING PRACTICES

B5. Supply Chain Management

The Group sets up policies on managing the qualified suppliers and
sub-contractors of the supply chain. The Group establishes system
for suppliers’ classification, grading, certification and evaluation.
Each new supplier will be reviewed with background search. On-
list suppliers will be reviewed on yearly basis with reference to
their performance, product and service quality, price and product
responsibility. Both suppliers and subcontractors are required to
provide and update the vessels with proper licences and permits,
which indicates the compliance to the relevant laws and the
requirement by Marine Department as inspected by chartered
surveyors.

As of year ended 31 March 2019, the Group has engaged 149
suppliers and subcontractors which offer products and services
including provision of repair and maintenance, vessel chartering
services, labour and shipyard.
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B6. Service Responsibility

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not note any cases
of material non-compliance in relation to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided as required by related laws and regulations.

Intellectual Property

The Group strives to manage intellectual property and strictly
upholds the Copyright Ordinance, Chapter 528 of the Laws
of Hong Kong. During the Reporting Period, the Group have
registered 2 trademarks of “Yun Lee” which is protected under
Section 47(3) of the Trade Marks Ordinance, Chapter 559 of the
Laws of Hong Kong. No non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations relating to intellectual property rights was noted during
the Reporting Period.

Confidential Information

The Group pays great attention in protecting confidential
information and strictly uphold the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance in daily business operation. Resigned staff are required
to sign the confidentiality agreement, for agreeing not to disclose
the Group’s trade secrets and related confidential information.
The Employee Handbook clearly states that staff are prohibited to
disclose or make copy of any confidential information without the
authorization by the Group. In the event of breach, such violation
is considered as serious misconduct at workplace and lead to
disciplinary action or immediate dismissal.

Customer Service

The Group commits to providing quality customer services. A 24-
hour direct hotline has set up for providing prompt supporting
services on ship arrangement. The supporting team handles
complaints/enquiries and offers assistance in a timely manner.
During the Reporting Period, there was no service-related
complaint received.
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B7. Anti-corruption

During the Reporting Period, there was no concluded legal cases
regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group or its
employees. The Group did not note any cases of non-compliance
with laws and regulations on money laundering or corruption.

The Group adopts policies on anti-bribery and corruption which
is strictly enforced in accordance with the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance, Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong, and prohibits
employees from the solicitation, acceptance of or offering any
‘advantage’ (gifts, loan, fee, reward, commission, office, contract,
service, favour or the discharge of any liability) without lawful
authority and the express permission of the employer.

Every employee entered to the employment contract abides by the
Group’s declaration of interest policy. Employee who has close
relationship with suppliers or customers shall submit written form to
the Group and the case is addressed on guarding against possible
illicit enrichment or conflicts of interests. For any suspected fraud,
the internal department shall report to the management level
within 2 working days and conduct corresponding investigations.
The identity of whistle-blower is kept confidential and will be well
informed when disclosure is required.
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B8. Community Investment

The Group cares for its community and actively engages in
voluntary services. The Group has not formulated internal policy
in relation to community investment. Nevertheless, the Group
participated in various community engagement activities and make
contributions by both financial and non-financial means. The Group
will continue to devote efforts in community contribution in the
coming years.

Scholarships and Volunteer services

The Group is committed to nourishing manpower for maritime
industry. During the Reporting Period, the Group sponsored 4
scholarships and provided lectures as volunteer lecturer to the
Maritime Services Training Institute of Vocational Training Council.

Charitable events

The Group donated HK$1,000,000 to The Community Chest of
Hong Kong under the Stock Code Balloting for Charity Scheme.
The Group also made a charitable donation to Barefoot Doctors
Limited and participated in the Healthcare Facilities Enhancement
Program in suburban areas of Guangdong province.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2019.

CORPORATE INFORMATION

In preparation for the Listing, the Group underwent the
reorganisation, details of the reorganisation are set out in the
Company’s prospectus dated 4 March 2019 (the “Prospectus”).

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange with effect from 18 March 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Company’s subsidiaries are principally involved in (i) vessel
chartering and related services; and (i) ship management.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 and the
financial positions of the Company and of the Group as at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 78 to
171 of this annual report.

The Directors did not recommend the payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2019.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2019, comprising the discussion of business prospects, is set out
in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 15
of this annual report and the cross-referenced part of the annual
report forms part of the directors’ report. The Group committed
to enhancing governance, promoting employee benefits and
development, protecting the environment and giving back to
society in order to fulfill social responsibility and achieve sustainable
growth.
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POSSIBLE RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACING THE COMPANY

The Group’s financial conditions, results of operations, businesses
and prospects may be affected by a number of risks and
uncertainties. The following are the key risks and uncertainties
identified by the Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties
which are not known to the Group or which may not be material
now but could turn out to be material in the future.

Business Risk

There are certain risks involved in the Group’s business operations,
many of which are beyond the Group’s control, these risks may
limit the Group’s ability to execute its strategies successfully. The
Directors believe that the following are some major risks that may
have a material adverse impact on the Group, namely (i) most of
the Group’s revenue is derived from non-recurring contracts, failure
to obtain new contracts may affect the Group’s sustainability and
financial performance; (i) failure to retain qualified personnel to
operate the Group’s vessel fleet may adversely affect the Group’s
business operations and financial performance; (iii) the Group or the
owners of the Group’s chartered vessels may not be able to renew
or maintain the Operating Licences of the Group’s vessel fleet;
(iv) the Group’s ability to compete for vessel chartering contracts
largely depends on the availability of vessels and there is no
guarantee that the Group will be able to renew the charterparties
with the owners of the Group’s chartered vessels.

Financial Risk

The financial risk management of the Group are set out in note
26(b) to the consolidated financial statements and the cross-
referenced part of the annual report forms part of the directors’
report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION POLICY

The Group has strong commitment towards environmental
protection and is committed to supporting the environmental
sustainability. Compliance procedures are in place to ensure
adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations. During the year
ended 31 March 2019 and up to the date of this annual report, the
Group did not incur any significant cost in relation to environmental
protection or have any material environmental-related incident,
and the Group had not been penalised by competent government
authority for environmental-related violations.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Board believes the compliance with laws and regulations as the
cornerstone of a business and attaches considerable importance to
it. To the best knowledge of the Board, during the year ended 31
March 2019 and up to the date of this annual report, the Group has
complied with relevant laws and regulations that have significant
impact on the business and operations of the Group. Further, any
changes in applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the
attention of relevant employees and relevant operation units from
time to time.

RELATIONS WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Board recognises that our employees are valuable assets
contributing to the Group’s future success. The Group provides
competitive remuneration package to attract, motivate and retain
our employees. The Board also regularly reviews the remuneration
package of our employees and makes necessary adjustments
to conform to the prevailing market practices. The Board also
treasures that maintaining good relationship with our customers
and suppliers is vital to achieve the Group’s long-term goals. During
the year, there was no significant dispute between the Group
companies and our business partners.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and equity
of the Group for the last four financial years, as extracted from the
Prospectus and the published audited financial statements, is set
out on page 172. This summary does not form part of the audited
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in note 14
to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of movements in the bank borrowings of the Group during
the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
Charitable donations made by the group during the year ended 31
March 2019 amounted to HK$1,000,000 (2018: nil).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2019, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the applicable laws of
the Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association, amounted to
HK$109,652,000 (2018: nil).

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 80 of this
annual report and note 31 to the consolidated financial statements
on page 170 of this annual report, respectively.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy (chairman and chief executive officer)
Ms. Chan Sau Ling Amy

Independent Non-Executive Director
Mr. Liu Hon Por Francis (appointed on 20 September 2018)

Mr. Wu Tai Cheung (appointed on 20 September 2018)

Mr. Fu Bradley (appointed on 20 September 2018)

In accordance with article 112 of the Articles of Association, any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy on the
Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the
Company after his appointment and be subject to re-election at
such meeting.

In accordance with article 112 of the Articles of Association, all
the Directors, namely, Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy, Ms. Chan Sau Ling
Amy, Mr. Liu Hon Por Francis, Mr. Wu Tai Cheung, Mr. Fu Bradley
will offer himself/herself for re-election as an executive/independent
non-executive Director (as the case may be).

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES
Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are
set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management”.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the
independent nonexecutive Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company, and each of the independent non-
executive Directors has signed an appointment letter with the
Company, for a term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date. The letters of appointment are subject to termination in
accordance with their respective terms.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2019, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance “SFO”)) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Long positions in shares of the Company

EERBAL
ERTEFCHARAF LRGBS W
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Number of  Percentage of
shares shareholding
Name of Director Nature of interest interested interest
FisERR hFRER
EEpA EEME R&OEER BotE
Wen Tsz Kit Bondy Interest in controlled corporation and 628,858,750 62.89%
interest of spouse (Note 1 and 2)

g Xy LE R R B ER (1 &2)

Chan Sau Ling Amy Interest in controlled corporation and 628,858,750 62.89%

interest of spouse (Note 1 and 2)

BRE

Ry B M@ (1 k2)



Notes:

(1) These 628,858,750 Shares are held by Kitling (BVI). The entire issued share
capital of Kitling (BVI) is owned by Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy (“Mr. Wen”) and
by Ms. Chan Sau Ling Amy (“Ms. Chan”) as to 70% and 30% respectively.
Each of Mr. Wen and Ms. Chan will therefore be deemed interested in the
628,858,750 shares held by Kitling (BVI) as interest in controlled corporation.

2 Since Mr. Wen and Ms. Chan are married to each other, Mr. Wen will be
deemed interested in the shares which Ms. Chan is deemed interested in as
interest of spouse, and vice versa.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, there were no
other interests or short positions of the Directors of the Company
in the shares or underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) or pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, required to be
recorded in the register or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS

AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2019, the following persons/entities (other than the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company) had an interest or
short position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of part XV of the SFO, or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company were
as follows:
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Long positions in shares of the Company

RAEQXTRBZEFR

Number of  Percentage of
shares shareholding
Name of Director Nature of interest interested interest
FsEER R ER
ESpE A8 EEMtE R B E Batt
Kitling Investments Beneficial owner 628,858,750 62.89%
(BVI) Limited EnAA
Wen Tsz Kit Bondy Interest in controlled corporation and 628,858,750 62.89%
interest of spouse (Note 1)
T R EEEm M EEE (1)
Chan Sau Ling Amy Interest in controlled corporation and 628,858,750 62.89%
interest of spouse (Note 1)
BRABIR R EEEm M BEE (1)
Novel Choice Ventures Beneficial owner 50,000,000 5.0%
Limited
HMEEEIRER AR EnEEA
Tang Yiu Chi James Interest in controlled corporation (Note 2) 50,000,000 5.0%

SRR XYL E s (M 2)

(1) The share capital of Kitling (BVI) is beneficially owned by Mr. Wen and Ms.
Chan as to 70% and 30% respectively.

2) The entire share capital of Novel Choice Ventures Limited is owned by Mr.
Tang Yiu Chi James.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, the Company has
not been notified by any persons/entities (other than the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company) who held an interest or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2019 was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

(1) Kitling (BVI) 2 BRA Ty FB 5T RBRZ L+ 5 Bl
BEBEA70% K% 30% °
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme
(the “Share Option Scheme”) on 20 September 2018. The Share
Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is established
to recognise and acknowledge the contributions the Eligible
Participants (as defined below) have had or may have made to
the Group. The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible
Participants an opportunity to have a personal stake in the
Company with the view to achieving the following objectives: (i)
motivating the Eligible Participants to optimise their performance
efficiency for the benefit of the Group; and (ii) attracting and
retaining or otherwise maintaining on-going business relationships
with the Eligible Participants whose contributions are or will be
beneficial to the long-term growth of the Group.

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the Directors may, at their
absolute discretion, offer to grant an option to subscribe for the
shares subject to such conditions (including, without limitation, any
minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised and/or any performance targets which must be achieved
before an option can be exercised) as they may think fit, to the
following persons (the “Eligible Participants”): (a) any full-time or
part-time employees, executives or officers of the Company; (b) any
director (including executive, non-executive and independent non-
executive directors) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries; (c)
any advisers, consultants, service providers, customers and agents
to the Company or any of its subsidiaries; and (d) such other
persons who, in the sole opinion of the Directors, will contribute or
have contributed to the Group. An option shall have been accepted
by an Eligible Participant within 21 days from the date of the offer
of grant of the option. A consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on
acceptance of the offer of grant of an option.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose, options which
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company) to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company must not in aggregate exceed
100,000,000 shares, being 10% of the shares in issue as at the
Listing Date. No share options had been granted by the Company
under the Share Option Scheme up to the date of this report.
Therefore, the number of shares available for issue is 100,000,000
shares, being approximately 10% of the shares in issue as at the
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date of this report. The total number of shares issued and which
may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company (including both exercised and outstanding options)
to each participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1%
of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being. Any
further grant of options in excess of the 1% limit shall be subject
to shareholders’ approval in general meeting with such participant
and his associates abstaining from voting.

The subscription price per share under the Share Option Scheme
shall be a price determined by the Directors, but shall not be less
than the highest of (a) the closing price of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
offer for the grant, which must be a Business day; (b) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the five Business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of a share.

Unless there is an early termination of the Share Option Scheme
pursuant to the rules of the Share Option Scheme, the Share
Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years after the
date on which the Share Option Scheme is adopted. The period
during which an option may be exercised will be determined by the
Directors in their absolute discretion, save that no option shall be
exercised later than 10 years from the date of grant.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” above, there were no equity-linked agreements entered
into by the Group, or existed during the year ended 31 March
2019.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.

None of the related party transactions set out in note 24 to
the consolidated financial statements constitutes “Connected
Transactions” or “Continuing Connected Transactions” in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The Company confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as those disclosed in note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with him/her
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year ended 31 March 2019 or at any time during the
year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2019.

COMPETING BUSINESS

For the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the date of this
report, none of the Directors or the controlling shareholders of the
Company (has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing
Rules and, in the context of the Company, means collectively Mr.
Wen Tsz Kit Bondy, Ms. Chan Sau Ling Amy and Kitling Investment
(BVI) Limited and their respective close associates had any interests
in any business, apart from the business of the Group, which
competes or likely to compete (either directly or indirectly) with the
business of the Group.

Non-Competition Undertaking by Controlling Shareholders

The controlling shareholders of the Company had entered into a
deed of non-competition in favour of the Company (for itself and as
trustee for each of its subsidiaries, Eastlink Marine Services Limited
and Scenic Shipping Company Limited) on 20 September 2018
(the “Deed of Non-Competition”), details of which are set out
in section headed “Relationship with the Controlling Shareholders
— Deed of Non-competition” in the Prospectus. The controlling
shareholders of the Company have confirmed to the Company of
their compliance with all the undertakings provided to the Company
under the Deed of Non-Competition.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets or profits of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain
or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his/her office or
otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Company since the Listing Date.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group was set
up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence. The emolument of the Directors
are reviewed and recommended by the Remuneration Committee,
having regard to the Company’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive
to eligible persons, details are set out under the heading “Share
Option Scheme” in this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands where
the Company is incorporated, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Company is not aware of any relief of taxation available to the
Shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the
Shares of the Company.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at
the date of this report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2019, (i) the Group’s largest
customer and five largest customers accounted for approximately
26.0% and 63.4% respectively of the Group’s total revenue; and
(i) the Group’s largest supplier and five largest suppliers accounted
for approximately 11.7% and 42.8% respectively of the Group’s
total purchases (not including purchases of items which are of a
capital nature).

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their
associates or any shareholders who owned more than 5% of
the Company’s share capital had any interest in the five largest
customers or suppliers of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 March 2019.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
practices and is satisfied that the Company has been in compliance
with code provisions set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 March 2019 and up
to the date of this report.

Details of corporate governance report are set out on pages 21 to
36 of this annual report.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The shares of the Company was successfully listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange on 18 March 2019. Net proceeds
from the Listing (after deducting underwriting fee and relevant costs
payable by the Group in connection with the Listing) amounted to
approximately HK$66.3 million. As at 31 March 2019, nil of the net
proceeds had been used by the Group and the unutilised amount
will be used for the intended purposes as set out in the section
headed “Future plans and use of proceeds” of the Company’s
prospectus dated 4 March 2019.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, who retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
reappointment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Wen Tsz Kit Bondy

Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited
Chairrman

Hong Kong
26 June 2019
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TO THE MEMBERS OF YUN LEE MARINE GROUP HOLDINGS
LIMITED
HASEREZRERAF

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yun Lee
Marine Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 78 to 171,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

BRRENEE

RIERFINEXRHE  BREFFER
BB ARGV BRERTRERN
FH ZEFTRNTRUMAEAERES
MBI N RE R ETRE
HAERMTERAEFFTHERBERESR °

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

We identified impairment assessment of trade
receivables as a key audit matter due to the
significance of trade receivables to the Group’s
consolidated financial position and the involvement of
subjective judgement and management estimates in
evaluating the expected credit losses (“ECL”) of the
Group’s trade receivables at the end of the reporting
period.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s trade receivables
amounted to HK$47,531,000, which represented
approximately 23% of the total assets of the Group
and out of these trade receivables HK$26,955,000
were past due. As explained in Notes 2 and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group adopted
HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” in the current year
and no credit loss allowance was recognised upon
the application of HKFRS 9 as at 1 April 2018 and
31 March 2019 as the amount was considered as
insignificant.

As disclosed in Notes 4, 16 and 26 to the consolidated
financial statements, trade receivables are assessed
individually for impairment allowance based on the
historical credit losses experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate
and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the end of each
reporting period, including time value of money where
appropriate.

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment
of trade receivables included:

° Understanding the key controls how the
management estimates the expected credit loss
allowance for trade receivables;

o Testing the integrity of information used
by management to develop the individual
assessment, including trade receivables aging
analysis as at 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019,
on a sample basis, by comparing individual items
in the analysis with the relevant sales contracts,
sales invoices and other supporting documents
and checking the historical settlement records on
a sample basis;

° Challenging management’s basis and judgement
in determining credit loss allowance on trade
receivables as at 1 April 2018 and 31 March
2019, including the reasonableness of the basis
of estimated loss rate applied to each debtor;
and

° Evaluating the disclosures regarding the
impairment assessment of trade receivables in
Notes 4, 16 and 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e FEvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

e FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Lee Ka Kei.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
26 June 2019
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Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited JE#/g =& @B R AR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
HERmREMEEKRER

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE-Z-NF=A=+—HIFE

2019 2018

Ff =E —ZE-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Revenue Wz 5 181,010 213,048
Cost of revenue LGN (126,855) (152,070)
Gross profit EF 54,155 60,978
Other income H AW A 6 2,308 1,337
Other gains and losses Hio e & &8 7 15 3,920
Administrative expenses 1TERAX (25,901) (19,813)
Finance costs BB A A 8 7) (50)
Share of results of associates SaK (5L /NI E ¥ 856 1,563
Listing expenses Emx (14,596) (3,886)
Profit before taxation B A% AT A 16,830 44,049
Income tax expenses st 9 (5,077) (7,880)

Profit and total comprehensive FEHMEEZEWN R B
income for the year 10 11,753 36,169

Profit and total comprehensive AT ATEEFEE RN R

income for the year FHEEBEE
attributable to:
— owners of the Company S YNEIE 2PN 11,753 32,398
— non-controlling interests — IR S — 3,771
11,753 36,169
Earnings per share BREF
— Basic (HK cents) —EAR (B 13 1.43 3.99



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A BRI R

At 31 March 2019
R=F—-NF=A=+—H

Notes 2019 2018
B & —E-NF —E-N\&E
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH T

Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W BERE&E 14 27,350 24,852
Interests in associates RN O 15 4,665 3,809
Rental deposits HEZe 365 —
32,380 28,661

Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables B 5N EMERERTE 16 56,049 42,080
Tax recoverable AT Yz [2 7 78 3,085 —
Amount due from an associate Gl R/NETE =] 17 - 3,443
Time deposits TE BTN 18 - 1,131
Bank balances and cash RITERNEIRE 18 116,983 38,613
176,117 85,267
Current liabilities RBEE

Trade and other payables B 5 R E M BN RIA 19 25,900 34,438
Amount due to an associate JE — 1B & R R A 17 469 388
Tax payables FERHRIR 396 6,187
Bank borrowings RITE 20 - 608
26,765 41,621
Net current assets REBEEEE 149,352 43,646
Total assets less current liabilities & ERMAEE & 181,732 72,307

Non-current liability FRBERE
Deferred tax liabilities EETIEBE 21 3,878 3,564
Net assets EEFE 177,854 68,743

Capital and reserves BEAXR#HE
Share capital &N 22 10,000 78
Reserves & 167,854 68,665
Total equity HEsmaE 177,854 68,743

The consolidated financial statements on pages 78 to 171 were ~ F78E171EMGREMBHRENR_ZE—N
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 ~ FRAZTNAEEE S /A REET

June 2019 and are signed on its behalf by: B WATIATRRESSHRE
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR R e



Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited JE#/g =& @B R AR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
HORDEER

For the year ended 31 March 2019

BHE-_T-NWF=A=1T—HILFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
LN PN 3
Non-
Share Share  Merger Other  Capital  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  resemve profits Total interests equity
Rx  ROEE AHEREFE HBRE EARE  REE BE FBREE RREE
HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
n T TEn TExn TEr fEr TEn  TEn  TEn
(Notea)  (Noteb)  (Notec)
(Wita)  (WEb)  (Wic)
At 1 Apri 2017 RZE-tfRA-A o7 = = 3 = 43267 43367 9582 529
Proft and total compreensive FRRHREENEEE
income for the year = = = = = 32,39 32,398 3 36,169
Effect of reorganisation EFi2 20) - 2 - - - - - -
Issug of shares L3014 1 - - 1724 - - 1725 - 1725
Aoquistion of adaitionalinterest ~ WEEHEAFEIMER
in subsidlaries = = = 8,103 = = 8,103 (8,103 =
Dividends recognised as distributions B2 A5 kAR E
(Note 12) (&t 12) = = = = - (16850  (16850) (5,250 (22,100
A3t March 2018and 1 Aprl 2018 R=E-\EZA=+-BR
Z%-\EHA-H 8 = 20 9,830 = 5815 68,743 = 68,743
Proft and total comprehensive FERNRZENEES
income for the year - - - - - 11,753 11,753 = 11,753
Fffect of reorganisation iye (78 63504  (63426) - - - - - -
Capialisaionissue (Note 220v) A BT (Wit 22v) 815 (3129 - - - - - - -
Issue of shares upon lsing LBk
(Note 22() (Rt 22()) 1875 91875 - - - - 93,750 - 93,750
Transaction cost aftoutable toissue EFTHRAEER A
of new shares - (1352) - - - - (1352) - (1352)
Desmed sharsholder's contributions & {ERE TS - - - - 1114 - 1113 - 111%
At 31 March 2019 R=E-NEZA=1-H 10000 133728 (63,406) 9830 17,34 70568 177,854 - 177854
|
Notes: M aE

@

Merger reserve mainly represents the difference between the total equity of
Yun Lee Marine Holdings (BVI) Limited (“Yun Lee (BVI)”) acquired and the
nominal value of share capital of the entities pursuant to the reorganisation as
set out in Note 1.

Amounts represent (i) the difference between the changes in share of net
asset of a subsidiary by the non-controlling shareholders and the capital
injection by non-controlling shareholders upon completion of share allotment;
(i) the difference between the par value of the allotted shares of Yun Lee
(BVI) and the fair value of equity interest in Eastlink Marine Services Limited
("Eastlink Marine"), an associate of the Group, pursuant to the reorganisation
as set out in Note 1 and (jii) the difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the consideration paid arising from
acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries by the Group.

Amounts represent (i) the portion of issue cost in relation to the Listing (as
defined in Note 1) additionally borne by Kitling (BVI) (as defined in Note 1) and
(i) the waiver of an amount of HK$12,500,000 advanced from Kitling (BVI)
upon completion of the Listing as detailed in Note 19.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_Z-NEF=ZA=+—HIEFE

Operating activities

Profit before taxation

Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property,

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FERT FET

BT
B 58 AT 5 A 16,830 44,049

AATEAEL AR
ME - BERRBITE

plant and equipment 2,400 2,260
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - BER&ERE
plant and equipment (15) 8)

Interest income from banks RITH B WA (46) (85)

Share of results of associates SaK(S): /NS E¥ (856) (1,563)

Finance costs BhE B AR 7 50
Operating cash flows before movements HEEREHHIKETERE

in working capital 18,320 44,703
(Increase) decrease in trade and B 5 KE A EWRIE A &

other receivables and rental deposits HEZ2 (g m) R (15,458) 10,559
Increase (decrease) in trade and B 5 K& H At FE T FRIBIE hN

other payables ORLA) 3,985 (7,407)
Increase (decrease) in amount due to JE S — B & 2 &) SR IEE 0

an associate CRA) 81 (381)
Cash generated from operations KEMERE 6,928 47 474
Income tax paid SENIRES (13,639) (5,850)
Interest paid ERFE (7) (50)
Net cash (used in) generated from ReEEH(FTA)RBHRESFEHR

operating activities (6,718) 41,574
Investing activities BRETEE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB Y% - BE & R&RE (4,898) (2,199)
Repayment from an associate —EH#E A RER 3,443 2,044
Withdrawal of time deposits REUEHIT R 1,110 —
Interest received from banks EUERTTHE 67 64
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BEMERE

plant and equipment FriS 08 15 8
Placement of time deposits FAEBFR - (1,110)
Advances to directors BEEEEN - (11,083)
Withdrawal of restricted bank deposits REUZ R HI$R1 775K - 5,000
Repayment from directors BEEEX - 1,257
Net cash used in investing activities RETEHFMARSFESE (263) (5,815)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BHE_ZT-NF=A=+—BHIFE

2019 2018
Sl —=-\f
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Financing activities RESEE
Proceeds from issue of shares BT TS ERI8 93,750 -
New bank borrowings raised EERITER 10,000 58,500
Capital contribution from a —RERBREE
controlling shareholder 2,359 —
Advance from an associate 1) NS E N 2,057 —
Repayment of bank borrowings ERIBITIERK (10,608) (64,793)
Payment of share issue costs SR BT (10,150) (849)
Repayment to directors MEFER - (12,126)
Advance from directors BEEEN - 1,612
Dividend paid EfIRE — (10,000)
Repayment to an associate ) — e & A FIE R (2,057) (2,870)
Advance from a controlling shareholder —AERRRBR - 12,500
Net cash from (used in) BMETEBME (A EESFE
financing activities 85,351 (18,126)
Net increase in cash and RERRESEYEMFE
cash equivalents 78,370 17,633
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FHHRERELSEEY
of the year 38,613 20,980
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FERRERBELEEY -
the year,
represented by bank balances and cash 2 RBITEH LIRS 116,983 38,613




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL

Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and registered
as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands on 21
February 2018. Its immediate and ultimate holding company is
Kitling Investments (BVI) Limited (“Kitling (BVI)”). The ultimate
controlling shareholders of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the "Group") are Mr. Wen Tsz Kit Bondy (“Mr. Wen”) and Ms.
Chan Sau Ling Amy (“Ms. Chan”), the spouse of Mr. Wen
(collectively as “the Controlling Shareholders”). The shares of
the Company had been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on
18 March 2019 (the “Listing”). The address of the registered
office of the Company is 89 Nexus Way, Camana Bay, Grand
Cayman, KY1-9009, Cayman Islands. The principal place of
business of the Company is Flat D, 31/F., Billion Plaza Il, 10
Cheung Yue Street, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 28.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong Dollars (“HK$”), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The companies now comprising the Group underwent a
series of reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”). Prior to the
Reorganisation, KMY Marine Works & Supplies Limited (“KMY
Marine”), MKK Marine Services Limited ("MKK Marine"),
Yun Lee Tug Boat Company Limited (“Yun Lee Tug Boat”),
Universal Marine Services Limited (“Universal Marine”) and Yun
Lee Marine Holdings Limited (“Yun Lee Marine”) (collectively
referred to as the “Entities”) were ultimately controlled by the
Controlling Shareholders, with 33.33%, 30%, 55%, 100%
and 100% beneficial interests over KMY Marine, MKK Marine,
Yun Lee Tug Boat, Universal Marine and Yun Lee Marine,
respectively.

ARE B I R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE-_TZ-NEF=ZA=+—HIEFE

—RER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-_Z-hWF=A=1t—HILFE

1.

GENERAL (Continued)

On 9 October 2017, 45% of the issued share capital of Yun
Lee Tug Boat was acquired by Mr. Wen from Mr. Wen Yiu Pui
in consideration of HK$54,000.

On 7 November 2017, Kitling (BVI) which was incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands (the "BVI") with limited liability and was
owned as to 70% by Mr. Wen and 30% by Ms. Chan.

On 5 December 2017, 66.67% of the issued share capital of
KMY Marine was acquired by Mr. Wen from Mr. Ng Wing Yiu
and Mr. Chow Wai Ming in consideration of HK$188,000 and
HK$188,000, respectively.

On 27 December 2017, Yun Lee (BVI) which was incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability on 16 November
2017, acquired the followings:

e 40% of the issued share capital of Eastlink Marine from
Mr. Wen in consideration of Yun Lee (BVI) allotting and
issuing its own 123 shares with par value of United States
Dollars (“US$”) 1 each to Kitling (BVI);

e  100% of the issued share capital of KMY Marine and Yun
Lee Tug Boat from Mr. Wen in consideration of Yun Lee
(BVI) allotting and issuing its own 85 and 774 shares with
par value of US$1 each to Kitling (BVI), respectively;

e 100% of the issued share capital of Universal Marine
and Yun Lee Marine from the Controlling Shareholders
in consideration of Yun Lee (BVI) allotting and issuing its
own 25 and 7,659 shares with par value of US$1 each to
Kitling (BVI), respectively; and

—REH#)
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SEREE S W B R HE 8w B 45%
BITIRA - R{E A 54,0008 7T °
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1.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL (Continued)

® 30%, 30% and 40% of the issued share capital of MKK
Marine from Mr. Wen, Mr. Chow Wai Ming and Mr.
Cheung Tai Kee, respectively, in consideration of Yun
Lee (BVI) allotting and issuing its own 400, 400 and 533
shares with par value of US$1 each to Kitling (BVI), Mr.
Chow Wai Ming and Mr. Cheung Tai Kee, respectively.

Immediately after 27 December 2017, each of Eastlink Marine
and Scenic Shipping Company Limited (“Scenic Shipping”)
became an associate of Yun Lee (BVI) and each of KMY
Marine, MKK Marine, Yun Lee Tug Boat, Universal Marine and
Yun Lee Marine became a wholly-owned subsidiary of Yun
Lee (BVI).

Pursuant to the Reorganisation, which was completed by
interspersing the Company and Yun Lee (BVI) between
the Entities and their shareholders in the way that the
Company allotted and issued 9,067, 533 and 400 Shares
to Kitling (BVI), Mr. Cheung Tai Kee and Mr. Chow Wai Ming
respectively as the consideration of the transfer of the entired
issued share capital of Yun Lee (BVI) to the Company, the
Company became the holding company of the companies
now comprising the Group on 14 September 2018. The
Entities are under the common control of the Controlling
Shareholders prior to and after the Reorganisation. The Group
comprising the Company and its subsidiaries resulting from
the Reorganisation is regarded as a continuing entity.

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-_ZT-hF=A=1T—HILEFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019

HE

1.

—Z-NEF=ZA=+—RHIEFE

GENERAL (Continued)

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows which include
the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the companies
comprising the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018,
has been prepared as if the Company had always been the
holding company of the Group and the group structure upon
the completion of the Reorganisation, except for the 66.67%,
70% and 45% equity interest in KMY Marine, MKK Marine and
Yun Lee Tug Boat respectively held by parties other than the
Controlling Shareholders had been in existence throughout the
year ended 31 March 2018, or since their respective dates of
incorporation, where it is a shorter period. The consolidated
statement of financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2018, has been prepared to present the assets and liabilities
of the companies now comprising the Group as if the current
group structure except for the 66.67%, 70% and 45% equity
interest in KMY Marine, MKK Marine and Yun Lee Tug Boat
held by parties other than the Controlling Shareholders had
been in existence at those dates. The transfers of the 66.67 %,
70% and 45% equity interest in KMY Marine, MKK Marine and
Yun Lee Tug Boat were considered as transactions of changes
in the Group's ownership interests in existing subsidiaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs™)

For the purpose of preparing and presenting the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019, the
Group has consistently applied the accounting policies which
conform with the HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(‘HKASs”), amendments and interpretations issued by the
HKICPA, which are effective for the accounting periods
beginning on 1 April 2018 throughout the two years ended
31 March 2019 except that the Group adopted HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments on 1 April 2018 and HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for the year
ended 31 March 2018. The accounting policies for financial
instruments under HKAS 39 and HKFRS 9 are set out in Note
3 below.

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 9 and the
related consequential amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS
9 introduces new requirements for (1) the classification and
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, (2)
expected credit losses (“ECL”) for financial assets and (3)
general hedge accounting.

For the year ended 31 March 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-_Z-hWF=A=1t—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs™) (Continued)

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the
transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied the
classification and measurement requirements (including
impairment under ECL model) retrospectively to instruments
that have not been derecognised as at 1 April 2018 (date of
initial application) and has not applied the requirements to
instruments that have already been derecognised as at 1 April
2018.

(a]  Classification and measurement of financial assets

The application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018 has no
impact on the consolidated financial position of the Group
with regard to classification and measurement of financial
instruments. All financial assets classified as loans and
receivables and financial liabilities measured at amortised
cost under HKAS 39 continued to be measured at
amortised cost under HKFRS 9.

(b)  Impairment of financial assets

As at 1 April 2018, the directors of the Company
reviewed and assessed the Group’s existing financial
assets for impairment using reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort
in accordance with the requirement of HKFRS 9. No
ECL allowance is recognised as the amount involved is
insignificant.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be
comparable as comparative information was prepared under
HKAS 39.

Accounting policies resulting from initial application of HKFRS
9 are disclosed in Note 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs™) (Continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective:

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

HK(FRIC) - Int 23

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Amendments to
HKFRS 9

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

Amendments to
HKAS 19

Amendments to
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKFRSs

Leases'

Insurance Contracts®

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments!

Definition of a Business*

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation’

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture?

Definition of Material®

Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement!

Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures'

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015 - 2017 Cycle!

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined
9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
& Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which

the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual period

beginning on or after 1 January 2020
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

For the year ended 31 March 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-_Z-hWF=A=1t—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs™) (Continued)

Except for the new HKFRS mentioned below, the directors of
the Company anticipate that the application of all other new
and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting treatments
for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS
17 Leases and the related interpretations when it becomes
effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on
the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a
customer. In addition, HKFRS 16 requires sales and leaseback
transactions to be determined based on the requirements of
HKFRS 15 as to whether the transfer of the relevant asset
should be accounted as a sale. HKFRS 16 also includes
requirements relating to subleases and lease modifications.

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are
removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model
where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have
to be recognised for all leases by lessees except for short-
term leases and leases of low value assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs™) (Continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions)
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease
liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the
lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as
well as the impact of lease modifications, amongst others. For
the classification of cash flows, the Group currently presents
operating lease payments as operating cash flows. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation to lease
liability will be allocated into a principal and an interest portion
which will be presented as financing cash flows by the Group,
upfront prepaid lease payments will continue to be presented
as investing or operating cash flows in accordance to the
nature, as appropriate.

Other than certain requirements which are also applicable
to lessor, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and continues to require
a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating lease or a
finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosure are required by HKFRS 16.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group as lessee has non-
cancellable operating lease commitment of HK$3,270,000 as
disclosed in Note 23. A preliminary assessment indicates that
these arrangements will meet the definition of a lease. Upon
application of HKFRS 16, the Group will recognise a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding liability in respect of all these
leases unless they qualify for low value or short-term leases.

2.

For the year ended 31 March 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-_Z-hWF=A=1t—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs™) (Continued)

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental
deposits paid of HK$365,000 as rights and obligations under
leases to which HKAS 17 applies. Based on the definition
of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such deposits are not
payments relating to the right to use the underlying assets,
accordingly, the carrying amounts of such deposits may
be adjusted to amortised cost. Adjustments to refundable
rental deposits paid would be considered as additional lease
payment and included in the carrying amount of right-of-use
assets.

The application of new requirements may result in changes
in measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated
above. The Group intends to elect the practical expedient to
apply HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC) — Int 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease and not apply this
standard to contracts that were not previously identified as
containing a lease applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC) — Int 4.
Therefore, the Group will not reassess whether the contracts
are, or contain a lease which already existed prior to the
date of initial application. Furthermore, the Group intends to
elect the modified retrospective approach for the application
of HKFRS 16 as lessee and will recognise the cumulative
effect of initial application to opening retained profits without
restating comparative information.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
historical cost basis as explained in the accounting policies set
out below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value
of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the
asset or liability at the measurement date.

Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for leasing transactions that are within
the scope of HKAS 17 Leases, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
value in use in HKAS 36 /mpairment of Assets.

The consolidated financial statements incorporates the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by
the Company and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved when the Company:

* has power over the investee;

* is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

* has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

For the year ended 31 March 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-_Z-hWF=A=1t—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuea)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributable to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributable to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuea)
Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of
relevant reserves between the Group and the non-controlling
interests according to the Group’s and the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements items of the combining entities or businesses in
which the common control combination occurs as if they had
been combined from the date when the combining entities
or businesses first came under the control of the controlling

party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses
are consolidated using the existing book values from the
controlling parties' perspective. No amount is recognised in
respect of goodwill or bargain purchase gain at the time of
common control combination.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income includes the results of each of the
combining entities or businesses from the earliest date
presented or since the date when the combining entities or
businesses first came under the common control, where this
is a shorter period.

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_Z-NF=ZA=+—HILFE

FTESTBR#A)

EEEEREH B L A EEERE
7 BBy
AEEEMBARNEZEB M
AREPAKERELHHE QR T
HliEE - THIABRERS AR - A&
[0 40 68 S T 0 K% S 2 AU 25 A B
HEE THE  ARBREEHBAQ
AIMARESZE  BRREAE
B IR IR s s L DI B HT
PO SR H B IR IR A i s X AR R e 1
PG -

BRSBTS EEAS X
ERRENATFEZENERMER
CEERERERANEFEE T AR
T’AA °

AV EHRERAPBRIEETT HREH
AHNGEEERRESNTBRE
iz} MRIENGAERSI XS

BH -
RIEREGTERACEHARK -

MEBRAEBNEEFEEAE
B BENREREBEETRS
FEHRESE MR ERERAEES
HEBEWESE -

Hit PSR EHEE
HESBGRAERAE
H[F I E B (AR 5
@Eﬁ%&ﬁ BRIEBNES -

,#E%



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019

HE
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—Z-NEF=ZA=+—RHIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuea)

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are presented as if the businesses had been
combined at the end of the previous reporting period or when
they first came under common control, whichever is shorter.

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of the promised
services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for those services. Specifically, the Group uses a
5-step approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

e Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

e Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations in the contract

e Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group
satisfies a performance obligation

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred
to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a service (or a bundle of
services) that is distinct or a series of distinct services that are
substantially the same.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuea)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over the period of the contract by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant performance
obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

* the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of
the value of the services transferred to the customer to date
relative to the remaining services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group's performance in transferring
control of services.

For the year ended 31 March 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019

HE—

3.

Z-NAF=RA=+—HLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuea)

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in this consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. The financial statements of
associates used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for
like transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under
the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other
than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group’s
share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest
in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share
of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate,
any excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess
of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment, after
reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuea)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 /mpairment of Assets as a single
asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the Group reduces its ownership interests in associates
but the Group continues to use the equity method, the Group
reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that
gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019

HE—

3.

Z-NAF=RA=+—HLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuea)

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the provision
of services, or for administrative purposes are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Contingent rentals
arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense
in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability.
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a
reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuea)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability or, where appropriate, a
shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and measurement of financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(upon application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in
Note 2)

All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of
HKFRS 9 are subsequently measured in their entirety at either
amortised cost or fair value, depending on the classification of
the financial assets.

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-_ZT-hF=A=1T—HILEFE

FTESTBR#A)

SEEEXASEBEIAGOGRNW
AR SREEREBBET
DAERR -

TREENRERABTNIUNAFE
AR ERBEEVBRSELSE
15T ERBEPANELN
B 5 RUBCGRIARSN - AU IE s E1T
TREERTRABAEMEZREED
RBRARN L HERRIIEES R
BEIERBENQIFEHEZF
DNFEF R (2EA) ©

BERAEZ
BERMFXERERASRTE SR
BEXSRABENEHFERANR LD
EMEWARMERAXHTE - B
BRAXIREeREESLTRAEED
BHEH(EE ) EEHEARE
B iaEt KRB WA RN R (BIEE
REBRFENRRD —F 082
SEBRAEER MM XHKRA
K E A B e TR ) MR IR =1 2
PR R I FE R o

THEE
EHEENTBEREEE
EAEEM D ERA K E (REH
AE2H B K T IE B BRI &
& ERE 9 1E)

BREEMBGHRELELE R E
AR BCHEREMEERRAA
BFEREEDBREBHANANLR

FEBEHE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-_Z-hWF=A=1t—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuea)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial assets
(Continueq)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

* the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial assets, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included
in the “other income” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuea)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Impairment of financial assets (upon application HKFRS 9 in
accordance with transitions in Note 2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial
assets which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9
(including trade and other receivables and bank balances). The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessment is done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting
date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets is assessed individually.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019

HE—

3.

Z-NAF=RA=+—HLEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuea)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort. Forward-
looking information considered includes the future prospects
of the industries in which the Group’s debtors operate,
obtained from economic expert reports, financial analysts,
governmental bodies, and other similar organisations, as well
as consideration of various external sources of actual and
forecast economic information that relate to the Group’s core
operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

* significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

* existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

®* an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

FTESTBR#A)

EREEE)

= E /7 A 158 m

R E BV ERAREERRZ
BEABIBINE  NEEHEER
HEEH R T AEEEREN RS
HEVPHERAHSM T ARA
HE AR ELLE o fEE L AT
B AEEZEAERAENEE
REEER BEATLERKEAEAE
5T H 38 2% A AN 525 0 BV AT BRAS /9 Al
IEMER - IZEENAELEERS
REKBERWME  UBOMED -
IR 4 1 % EL th 8 (DA 48 48 BRUAF 9 AR
EEEBAFRRETENREKA
5 RAKTEEZEEEAEEZ
D EBHNE R RIBRKBEE R8I
EERRIR o

REFHEERRESR
it R T OIEH -

o SR T EINB(INE)HKAZE
BN ERKBARHRBEES
1k ;

. %%ﬁ%%ﬁ #4918 R
S M E B E KRS
M‘E%A;fiﬁﬁ%F

s BEAIHEHEHABERENK
N0 SN P E N
SLEVIR A S TR R A FEL

ENERLEH

s BHEMAEMERENKETE
MEKAEE  EHEARMR
BEHNERIFARSANTHE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuea)

Financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit
risk on a financial instrument has not increased significantly
since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i) the
financial instrument has a low risk of default, (i) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term may,
but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers
a financial instrument to have low credit risk when it has an
internal or external credit rating of “investment grade” as per
globally understood definition.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group (without taking
into account any collaterals held by the Group).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-_Z-hWF=A=1t—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuea)

Financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that
a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

® abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

e the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

e it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterpart is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuea)

Financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on
amortised costs of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables, where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-_Z-hWF=A=1t—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuea)

Financial assets (Continued)
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018)

The Group's financial assets are classified as loans and
receivables. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time
of initial recognition.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including trade and other receivables, amount due
from an associate, time deposits and bank balances and cash)
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment losses.

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate, except for short-term receivables where the recognition
of interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of loans and receivables (before application of
HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018)

Loans and receivables are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of each reporting period. Loans and
receivables are considered to be impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the loans and
receivables, the estimated future cash flows have been
affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

e Dpreach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

* it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuea)

Financial assets (Continued)

Loans and receivables (Continued)

Impairment of loans and receivables (before application of
HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018) (Continued)

Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include the Group's past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in
the portfolio passed the respective credit period, observable
changes in national or local economic conditions that correlate
with default on receivables.

The amount of impairment loss recognised is the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the present value
of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial
asset's original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the loans and receivables is reduced
by the impairment loss directly with the exception of trade
receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through
the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying
amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or
loss. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible,
it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to
profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment losses were recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment
not been recognised.

For the year ended 31 March 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019

HE

—Z-NEF=ZA=+—RHIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuea)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group are recognised
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised
cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables bank
borrowings, and amount due to an associate are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuea)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continuead)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of tangible assets are estimated
individually, when it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an asset individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

For the year ended 31 March 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-_Z-hWF=A=1t—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuea)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment
loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so
that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or the cash-
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme, are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuea)

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

For the year ended 31 March 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-_Z-hWF=A=1t—HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continuea)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with interest in an associate, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such interest is only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of each reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of each reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to
settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

For the year ended 31 March 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-_Z-hWF=A=1t—HILFE

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

Upon application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018, the
management of the Group calculates ECL for the trade
receivables, which is assessed individually for each trade
debtor. The provision rates applied are estimated using the
historical observed default rates of the debtors taking into
consideration forward-looking information that is reasonably
and supportably available without undue costs or effort. At
the end of the reporting period, these historical loss rates
are reassessed and updated if required after considering the
forward-looking information then available to the directors of
the Company. The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes
in estimates. The information about the ECL and the Group's
trade receivables are disclosed in Notes 16 and 26. The
carrying amount of trade receivables at 31 March 2019 for the
Group is HK$47,531,000.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives, after taking into
account their estimated residual values. The Group assesses
annually the residual values and the useful lives of the property,
plant and equipment. If the expectation differs from the original
estimate, such difference will impact the depreciation charge
in the period in which such estimate is changed and in future
periods. As at 31 March 2019, the carrying amounts of the
Group's property, plant and equipment are HK$27,350,000
(2018: HK$24,852,000), net of accumulated depreciation of
HK$16,531,000 (2018: HK$14,701,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue represents revenue arising from provision of vessel
chartering and related services and ship management
Services.

Information reported to the executive director of the Company,
Mr. Wen, being the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM”) of the Group, for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance focuses on types
of service provided. The Group’s operating segments are
classified as (i) Vessel chartering and related services and
(i) Ship management services. The details of the Group’s
operating segments are as follows:

(i) Vessel chartering The Group provides vessel chartering
and related services mainly to contractors for
Services: construction projects in Hong Kong,

including time chartering representing
the hiring of vessel and crew for a
specific period of time and voyage
chartering representing the hiring of
vessel and crew for a specific voyage
between two designated locations.

(i) Ship management  The Group provides ship management
services: services for two vessels which transport
the dewatered sludge from Stonecutter
Island and other designated sites to
the sludge treatment facilities located
at Nim Wan, Tuen Mun. The Group is
responsible for the provision of crew
members for daily operation and the
repair and maintenance services.

These operating segments also represent the Group’s
reportable segments. No operating segments identified by
the CODM have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable
segments of the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2019
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Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited JE#/g =& @B R AR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMEmRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NF=A=+—HItFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. WARSEHER &)
Segment revenues and results DEBAREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results NTARELERZRDEE H AR
by operating and reportable segments: SERAREEDT :
Year ended 31 March 2019 BE—F-NF=ZA=1+—HIF
E
Vessel
chartering Ship
and related management
services services Total
MMAER MMER
HEEE AR A& Bk 7 st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FET FET
SEGMENT REVENUE 2 EUA
External revenue HNEBUTA 155,954 25,056 181,010
Segment profit 73 36 ) 42,806 11,349 54,155
Share of results of associates D 1EHEE N &I E4E 856
Other income E A A 2,308
Other gains and losses H ez & &1 15
Administrative expenses TERAEZ (25,901)
Finance costs BB A A (7)
Listing expenses EWAX (14,596)
Profit before taxation B B A1 ) 16,830



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE-_ZT-NF=A=+—HIFE

assessment.

Except as disclosed above, no other amounts are regularly
provided to the CODM of the Group and therefore, no further
analysis is presented.

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continuea) 5. WMARDIER (&)
Year ended 31 March 2018 Bz —F-N\F=/F=+—HULF
E
Vessel
chartering Ship
and related management
services services Total
MMAER RfnEE
18 B8 AR 75 I8 #Et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET FEx
SEGMENT REVENUE 2 EBUA
External revenue SNERIA 187,792 25,256 213,048
Segment profit 73 &6 49,589 11,389 60,978
Share of results of associates DB N B E4E 1,563
Other income HagA 1,337
Other gains and losses E oz KB R 3,920
Administrative expenses TBRE (19,813)
Finance costs BhE AR AR (50)
Listing expenses EHEX (3,886)
Profit before taxation B %4 BT 4 44,049
The accounting policies of the operating segments are D R ® E IR BB FE S ATt
the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in REBETTHEMER - 2 8B 18
Note 3. Segment profit represents the profit before taxation & 5 &b ﬁaﬁ EX &9 Bk A% Al & A - A
earned by each segment without allocation of share of BOBROMBERRIFEE  HM
results of associates, other income, other gains and losses, A Bl RERE - THRX -
administrative expenses, finance costs and listing expenses. BEKAR LR o T EIR
This is the measure reported to the CODM of the Group PEERRBAFGMERTAEEE
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance BRERKRENTERN ©

PR EXFTBEEES  WEE SR
ETHRETASEIZLERK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-_Z-hWF=A=1t—HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

No analysis of segment assets or segment liabilities is
presented as they are not regularly provided to the CODM
of the Group on making decision for resource allocation and
performance assessment.

The Group recognises revenue from the following major
sources:

(@)

Vessel chartering and related services

The Group provides vessel chartering services mainly
to contractors for construction projects in Hong Kong,
including time chartering representing the hiring of
vessel and crew for a specific period of time and
voyage chartering representing the hiring of vessel and
crew for a specific voyage between two designated
locations. The Group recognises the fee received or
receivable as its revenue over time in the period in which
the customers simultaneously receive and consume
the benefits provided by the Group's performance as
services are performed by the Group.

Ship management services

The Group provides ship management services for
two vessels which transport the dewatered sludge
from Stonecutter Island and other designated sites
to the sludge treatment facilities located at Nim Wan,
Tuen Mun. The Group recognises the fee received or
receivable as its revenue over time in the period in which
the customers simultaneously receive and consume
the benefits provided by the Group's performance as
services are performed by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continuea)

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue from its
major Services:

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE-_ZT-NF=A=+—HIFE

AR D EBEH (&)

AT RREAANEEEEIRBE WA
DT

2019 2018

—ZE-hF —EB-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FBT

Vessel chartering and related services — MFATE S M 4878 AR5 155,954 187,792
Ship management services MM E RS 25,056 25,256
181,010 213,048

For contracts for vessel chartering and related services and
ship management services, the Group bills for each period
of service provided. The Group elected to apply the practical
expedient by recognising revenue in the amount to which the
Group has right to invoice.

Payment of the transaction price is generally due within 30 to
60 days. All vessel chartering and related services and ship
management services are for periods of less than one year. As
permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to
these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

As all the Group’s revenue is derived from customers located
in Hong Kong and all the Group’s identifiable non-current
assets are principally located in Hong Kong, no geographical
segment information is presented.

AR ARTE S A ) S AE B8 AR A A S
MEERRBMNE  ARELSERE
HEHARE AEEEBLAEE
ERFARZCHER NS - EE
REREEZA ©

RGEE—MN30ZE60KNKE 5
XfF e MM E RAERERE X
WAHEBERBABRH A —FUT -
BB B BRELERNE1SHAA
R TZERBOTENNRS
BETTHESE -

HRAKERMERALGREURE
BREFE BARSERTA A # 5 FER
BEERBOMNER - Bt &
2B D EER
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NF=A=+—HItFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. WMARSDIHER (&)
Information about major customers EREXEEFNEHR
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years RIEFEEE 2R B E R & P Y AG AR
contributing over 10% of the Group’s revenue are as follows: EBEWABIB10%HERAT :

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Customer A’ B N/A® 138 2 59,478
Customer B! BE1 30,164 N/A® ANiE FRe
Customer C? PR 25,056 25,086
Customer D' BRET N/A® 138 2 29,945
|
1 Revenue from vessel chartering and related services segment L REMMEAE ARSI A
2 Revenue from ship management services segment 2 R B AR E IR RIS D EBEVIRA
3 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total 8 FEPE W A RS AR &R B AR A /2 AR A
revenue of the Group 10% A £
6. OTHER INCOME 6. HihUkA

2019 2018
=l - N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TEx T

Interest income from banks RITHEMWA 46 85
Insurance claim REERE - 266
Management fee income EREBERKA 920 602
Vessel sourcing income A RAEE R A 910 —
Others Hith 432 384

2,308 1,337



8.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_Z-NF=ZA=+—HItFE

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7. Hihigzs

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET

Gain on sales of a modified vessel (Note) & &< B2 i A U 25 (P =E) - 3,912
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEME  BE REBKE
and equipment 15 8
15 3,920
|
Note: The Group entered into a contract with an independent third party Wi ANEBEBYE=FFFHEEEH
customer in respect of the sale of a jack-up barge at a consideration ABMEIZEH  REOR6ESEE
of approximately HK$6 million. Pursuant to which, the Group sourced T e BRIt AEEEGS—HEE AR
a used jack-up barge and performed modification specified by the B WRBBYE=HFEFiET#H
independent third party customer. The transaction was completed and a T - RSB - MHEEHRE
net gain on sale of a modified vessel of HK$3,912,000 was recorded in MEAREY UL 25 )% 58 3,912,000 8 LB 52
other gains and losses during the year ended 31 March 2018. BRBE_ZE-N\F=A=+—HI

FEMHMIRE

FINANCE COSTS 8. MEMRA

2019 2018
=il - \F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T

Interest on bank borrowings RITIE A 7 50
|
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BHE_ZT-NF=A=+—BHIFE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSES 9. PRESHBX
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FBx
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEEMNEFH
— current year —KREE 4,769 7,722
— (over) underprovision in prior years —BEFE(BEEE),
BETR (6) 197
Deferred tax (Note 21): EAERIE (MaE21) -
Current year REE 314 (39)
5,077 7,880

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “BIill")
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The
Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted
on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

Accordingly, starting from the current year, the Hong Kong
Profits Tax is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million
of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million in a qualifying
group entity and the profits of remaining group entities
continues to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

R-ZE—NF=A=-+—H &FE
EEBB( T FRBUEET)
(B7HR)BOIBERNEHIEZR])
SIAFIGHMES - EHERR=
E-—NEFE=ZA-+\BEZEKX
AR YRBRESTHIE-
BREBEMESHEMES  &EKEE
EREE2EEETAMNNTEAR
8.25% * MitBid 2 B BB L& FIK
K H16.5% o TFFE FI15 5 R Rl
EREEERRNBEER16.5%
2B — B EBURBIIE o

Eit - BAFER  FEEFESHIZ
CEREEERBEZE2AEALTE
AT AR A A 8.25% LA K B i@ 2
BEB A AT RER M 16.5%
HE O MBRSETRSANESLT
L 16.5% 5TFi °
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE-_ZT-NF=A=+—HIFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continueqd) 9. FBHEX (&)

The income tax expenses for year can be reconciled to the FAMMEHAX LGS Bm R E
profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit fth 2 [ W &5 55 PR B 50 A ) 9 BR 40
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: K

2019
—ZE-hF —E-N\E
HK$’000 HK$°000
FBT FBT

Profit before taxation B 5 AT ) 16,830 44,049
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate BREBNEHHE16.5%

of 16.5% SAERTIA 2,777 7,268
Tax effect of share of results of associates 7 {h Bt & A A EENFH G E (141) (258)
Tax effect of income not taxable for AR A NI S 2

tax purposes (19) (15)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for A FNFL B X TR IS 7 2

tax purposes 2,711 748
(Over) underprovision in prior years BEFE(BREREE)

BiET R (6) 197

One-off tax deduction of profits tax MG BH— X EFF B

by Inland Revenue Department (80) (60)
Tax effect of two-tiered profits tax 115 H54 i A% ol B0 o 755 i 22

rate regime (165) =
Income tax expenses st 5,077 7,880
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BHE_T-NF=A=+—HIFE

10. PROFIT AND TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 10. FEEFREZEKSHAE

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$°000
THET FET

Profit and total comprehensive income & & F| 2 & 25 4258 T
for the year has been arrived at KAIBRIA TS EESED -
after charging:

Staff costs, including directors’ BIXAN(BIEESME)

remuneration (Note 11) (FaE11)

— Salaries and other allowances — e K HEAMhEE, 38,716 38,939

— Retirement benefit scheme — R FIET B

contributions 1,233 1,349

Total staff costs @8 THA 39,949 40,288
Depreciation of property, Yz - BEREETE

plant and equipment 2,400 2,260
Minimum operating lease rentals MEMFENHELEEOES

in respect of rented premises 2,017 1,469
Auditor’s remuneration = AT 2 1,800 73
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11.  DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a)

Directors and the chief executive

Details of the emoluments paid or payable by the entities
comprising the Group to the directors and the chief
executive of the Group (including emoluments for services
as employees/directors of the group entities prior to
becoming the directors of the Company) during the year
are as follows:

e mRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_Z-NF=ZA=+—HItFE

"N EE - FETHRAERESM

o)

(a)

EEREETHBAR
FRARAEENERRES
RASBETIETHRABENHK
ENNME(BREEARRE
EMREEERIEMHES B
ERBEOME)FEWT

Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
allowances contributions Total
FeR  EIER
e HMEE SR a3t
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000
THT  TEET TR TER
For the year ended BE-ZE-NEF
31 March 2019 =B=t+-H
LEE
Executive directors: WITEE:
Mr. Wen REE 1,278 762 18 2,058
Ms. Chan Rt 938 416 7 1,361
Independent non-executive BUFRTES
directors:
Mr. Wu Tai Cheung (Note) FAARHE S A (BT5E) 9 - - 9
Mr. Fu Bradley (Note) FEZELE (M) 9 - - 9
Mr. Liu Hon Por Francis B 5o (P aE)
(Note) 9 = = 9
2,243 1,178 25 3,446



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BHE_ZT-NF=A=+—BHIFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 11. EE - FETHRAERESM

(Continueq) (&)
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total
HER EAREA BIER
we H At 28y HE [EEN FHEIRR
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FARL TR FARL TR
For the year ended BE-Z2-N\#¥
31 March 2018 =A=+-H
LFE
Executive directors: HTES
Mr. Wen BRE 1,110 735 16 1,861
Ms. Chan Rzt 750 405 8 1,163
1,860 1,140 24 3,024
Note: Mr. Wu Tai Cheung, Mr. Fu Bradley and Mr. Liu Hon Por Francis MieE - BARRESR A EELEREE

were appointed as independent non-executive directors of the
Company on 20 September 2018.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Group during the year. Mr. Wen is also
the chief executive of the Group and his emoluments
disclosed above included those for services rendered by
him as the chief executive.

The independent non-executive directors' emoluments
shown above were for their services as directors of the
Company.

There was no arrangement under which a director of the
Company or the chief executive of the Group waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during both years.

BEER-_F—N\FALA-TA
BZERARARBIIFRNTE
=

EXFRATESOME o5
HERNFREEAKEEHRER
B AR M ST o JREETRAAR
SEMITHRAS  MEREX
BEAOME S REERTTHAE
BT A IR

b XFTRE S IR LT E A BA
SR EERARRTEEREMHR
RIS T S A

FAY BT LERMARAES
AAREEEBZTRABRER
FEMEEMNME R -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_Z-NF=ZA=+—HItFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 11. EE - FETHRAESRESM

(Continued) 4GP,

(b) Employees b ES
The five highest paid employees of the Group included 2 FRN - AEENRABRS &
directors (2018: 2 directors) of the Company during the EEBEARTMBES(ZE
year, whose emoluments are included in the disclosure —NFE:MEES) EMEH
above. Details of the emoluments for the year of the REXHEBEER -2 T =R(=
remaining 3 (2018: 3) highest paid employees who are T-N\F: ZR)FEARAES
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are KEZETBAEN TS FHE
as follows: BT

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Salaries and other allowances e M E A2 AL 2,295 1,917
Performance related incentive payments FIREE BT - 240
Retirement benefit scheme contributions iR RAEF 5T 2 L5k 54 54

2,349 2,211
1
The emoluments of these employees were within the ZEREENMENTUATE
following bands: :

Number of Employees

EBEHE

Not exceeding HK$1,000,000 T B38 1,000,000 7T 3 3

|
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group FAAEEWERARRAE
to the directors of the Company or the chief executive of ERAEEETETHRAB XA
the Group or the five highest paid individuals of the Group SEREZE AT
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as SEARSIBEEMAREEK
compensation for loss of office. A Z £ B R B 3 B sk 1E R B

B -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BHE_ZT-NF=A=+—BHIFE

12. DIVIDENDS 12.

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company since
its date of incorporation. Prior to the Reorganisation, certain
Entities had declared dividends to their then equity owners as

g2

RN R B R AL B EA DA SR I R
NREIRKRE - REAR - & TZ
FERBARSERNESKEAD

follows: FIRAIAR BT ¢
2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
FET
KMY Marine KMY Marine 500
Yun Lee Tug Boat EFHE iR 2,000
MKK Marine MKK Marine 7,500
Yun Lee Marine BREE 12,100
22,100

The rate of dividend and number of shares ranking for above
dividends are not presented as such information is not
meaningful having regard to the purpose of this report.

The directors of the Company do not recommend the
payment of final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2019.

MEZ2IREEXREE LAKERN
BB E - EARAKRENS - &
AENBERARETAK

ARAEFTRBENHE T
—AE=B=+—BIEEENRY

BB e
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE-_ZT-NF=A=+—HIFE

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. BRER
The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to RAREE ANEBEERELRZRNTY
the owners of the Company is based on the following data: BB T8EE -
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
Earnings: BaF -
Profit for the year attributable to owners M EEREARBNME
of the Company for purpose KRB AEBREE
of basic earnings per share (HK$'000) a A (FHIT) 11,753 32,398
Number of shares: BROEAE :
Weighted average number of ordinary A EEREABNME
shares for the purpose of AR e E(TR)
basic earnings per share (in thousand) 819,692 812,500
The number of ordinary shares for the purpose of calculation BEAEEE —_ZT—AER_-ZT
of basic earnings per share for the years ended 31 March —N\FZA=+—HIEFEERE
2019 and 2018 are based on the assumption that the shares RENE L BREE DERBRE
issued pursuant to the Reorganisation as set out in Note 1 B EE 1 PTEN RV E AR K B 5 22(iv) BT
and the capitalisation issue as set out in Note 22 (iv) had been HWENMELBITRZE—+FMA
completed on 1 April 2017. —HEZ=KMEBETHARSD °
No diluted earnings per share is presented for both years as BRI ERITEE LA - i E

there was no potential ordinary share in issue. HREFE27|SREERT -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NF=A=+—HItFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BERR

Machinery Furniture
Leasehold and and Motor
Vessels improvement  equipment fixtures vehicles Total

# BEXE BHRRE  GRRZE AE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin Tin TiEn TiEn TiEn Tin

cosT S

At 1 Aprl 2017 R=F-+ERA-A 34,352 1,19 7 784 2561 30,664
Additions & - - - 127 37 514
Disposals (& = = - - (625) (625)
At 31 March 2018 R=F-\E=B=1-H 34,352 1,195 7 911 2323 39553
Addtions TE 4,800 3 - 6 - 4,898
Disposals & - - - - (570) (570)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=R=1-H 39,152 1,228 m 976 1,753 43,881
DEPRECIATION it

At1 Apri 2017 R-F-tFRA-A 9,669 788 38 558 2013 13,066
Provided for the year i 1,668 123 154 o) 223 2260
Eliminated on disposals (H E R = - - - (62) (625)
At 31 March 2018 RZZ-\E=A=t-H 11,337 911 192 650 1611 14,701
Provided for the year Fhit 1,742 127 154 % 219 2400
Eliminated on disposals (R - - - - (570) (570)
At 31 March 2019 R=E-nE=B=t-H 13,079 1,038 346 48 1,320 16,531
CARRYING VALUES KA

At 31 March 2019 R=E-hE=B=t-H 26,073 190 42 28 433 21,350
At 31 March 2018 RZF-N\E=R=+-H 23015 284 580 261 712 24,852
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE-_ZT-NF=A=+—HIFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continueq) 14. Y% - MENRRMEE)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are FatmE - BERZEER IKE
depreciated, taking into account their estimated residual RESHNMHGTFRABEERAESRE
values, on a straight-line basis and at the following rates per ETEFRETE -
annum:
Vessels 5% i AR 5%
Leasehold improvement Over the shorter of the term HERE REEFH(E
of lease, or 20% B HIA) -
53% 20%
Machinery and equipment ~ 20% Y ISE 20%
Furniture and fixtures 20% ERMEREE  20%
Motor vehicles 20% T 20%
15. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 15. IS A RIRIERS

2019 2018
=il - \F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T

Unlisted investments: FELTIEE -
Cost of investments B KA 1,727 1,727
Share of post-acquisition profits DY B85 T 2,938 2,082
Group’s share of net assets REB (G E R EH
of associates EEFE 4,665 3,809
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wh A

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BHE_T-NF=A=+—HIFE

15.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)
Details of each of the Group’s associates at the end of the
reporting period are as follow:

Place of
establishment/

Name of entity operation

15. REFEDTRIRERS (&)

RBESF - AEBSHER TN
HEMT -

Proportion of ownership
interest and voting rights
held by the Group

Principal activities

AEEFAEANEEEERR

BERAH PR3 b B

—E-NF
Scenic Shipping Hong Kong 20.0%
B s i 75 E
Eastlink Marine Hong Kong 40.0%
RiEE i

BRERELA
2019

FEER

2018

—B-N\F

20.0% Inactive (Note)
HEEB (M)

40.0% Provision of vessel chartering
and related services
RAEMAE & XA RS

Note: Scenic Shipping ceased its provision of shipping services during the year
ended 31 March 2019.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group acquired
40% equity interest in Eastlink Marine from Mr. Wen in
consideration of Yun Lee (BVI) allotting and issuing its own
123 shares with par value US$1 each to Kitling (BVI).

Summarised financial information of the associates

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
associates is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents the financial information of
the associates prepared in accordance with the significant
accounting policies of the Group.

The associates are accounted for using the equity method in
these consolidated financial statements.

M ABMBERE T NF=A=1+—
B L FEE R EAER -

BE_ZT—N\F=ZA=+—HLHF
B AEEAELEERBRERMESE
B 40% IR A fEas - RE BB R
TEM(EBERRERE)AGER
B 12 7T 89123 % B& 4 T Kitling
(BVI) °

fE QRN ERSE
AEENBERRNYHEERBME
BN T XX o TXEIH M5B R
EERBASEEZS A HRAR
SNBE N R EER

BERNRRABEENZEFEEN
BRRAAL °



15. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continuea)

Summarised financial information of the associates (Continued)

Scenic Shipping
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e mRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE_Z-NF=ZA=+—HItFE

15. REFZEARIMNMERE (&)
B A E A IS PR (42)
B %
2019
—E-hfF
HK$’000
FHx

2018
—2-N\E

HK$’000
FHx

Current assets MEEE 12,506 2,223
Non-current assets JERBEE - 27,785
Current liabilities nBAE (74) (17,303)
Non-current liabilities SERBAG — (2,095)

2019
—EB-NF
HK$’000
FET

2018
—E-N\f

HK$’000
F&ET

Revenue WA 2,000 12,060
Profit and total comprehensive income  F &a F| & 2 Uz 4258
for the year 1,822 8,007

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
to the carrying amount of the interest in Scenic Shipping
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

BB AR E EN RS B
~ERNABMNEERREEY
BE -

2019
—E-hF
HK$’000
T x

2018
—B-N\F

HK$’000
TET

Net assets of Scenic Shipping REBMBHNEERE 12,432 10,610
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBE R BB

interest in Scenic Shipping Rz Lb 151 20.0% 20.0%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest 7N 52 B 72 BF B5 i 75 O B 25

in Scenic Shipping FREA 2,486 2,122
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NF=A=+—HItFE

15. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 15. REE QTR (&)
Summarised financial information of the associates (Continueq) BEARNBEEREE (&)

Eastlink Marine EREE

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FERT

Current assets MEEE 3,169 2,141
Non-current assets FERBE E 15,588 3,111
Current liabilities mENAE (13,310) (1,034)

2019 2018
—B-NhEF —B-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Revenue WA 5,309 652

Profit (loss) and total comprehensive FEmM(EE)

income (expense) for the year ReEmles ()85 1,229 (96)
|

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information Ll E R E BN R A B TSR
to the carrying amount of the interest in Eastlink Marine AERNRMEEEAREEY
recognised in the consolidated financial statements: R :

2019 2018
sl = N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T

Net assets of Eastlink Marine HSEMEEFE 5,447 4,218
Proportion of the Group’s AEBRIA TR R HEE E

ownership interest in Rz 51

— Eastlink Marine —RAEE 40.0% 40.0%
Carrying amount of the Group’s REBRAT AR

interest in FREE

— Eastlink Marine —RMmEE 2,179 1,687
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16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE-_ZT-NF=A=+—HIFE

6. 5 Kk H{tEUIRIE

2019 2018

—E-hF —E-N\E

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FET

Trade receivables =) e 47,531 39,453
Other receivables B b & IR

— Prepayments (Note) —JEAF I (P RE) 5,280 1,207

— Deposits — e 2,393 296

— Deferred issue costs —IBEEETTRNAN = 1,124

— Others —Efh 845 —

Total trade and other receivables B 5 K& E At fE W GRIA AR R 56,049 42,080

Note: As at 31 March 2019, the Group's prepayments comprised an amount
of approximately HK$4,500,000 (2018: nil) prepaid to an independent
third party for the future usage of a yacht.

At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2018, trade receivables form
contracts with customers amounted to HK$47,531,000 and
HK$39,453,000, respectively.

The Group allows a credit period of 30 to 60 days to its trade
customers.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses
the potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit
limits by customers. Credit limits attributed to customers and
credit term granted to customers are reviewed regularly. The
majority of the Group’s trade receivables that are neither past
due nor impaired have no history of defaulting on repayment.

Mzt : RZZ-AF=A=+—8H K&E
MIENFIRE AR B R AR EERE
MY E=F AN EELI4,500,000/8 T
(ZZB—N\F: 8) o

RZE—NWF=ZA=+—BR=_Z
—N\FMA—H REEFPEHH
2 5 EWRIESD Bl & 47,531,000 4
7T % 39,453,000 T °

AEERTHESEPNEESRN
F30HZE60H °

REMEFAHEEA - NEE ST
HEEEFPHNEEERENEERFRP
MIEER - TeEHRTEP AR
GHEEREETEPNEED -
R £R B K B0 0 b 4 360 B 7 S R (B A
B 5 EUGRIR B E I B RIE R
FOER ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019

BE-T—

16.

NEF=ZRA=+—BIFE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period:

EZREMEWREE)

REBREMRARBEZEZAHZIN
TT%FEHSZ IR ARER DT EAE

2019 2018

S8Ed -= =

HK$’000 HK$’000

T FBT

Within 30 days 30 RAR 16,122 15,540
31 to 60 days 31 260K 14,093 15,424
61 to 90 days 61 290K 11,563 5,614
91 to 120 days 91 120K 2,230 1,187
Over 120 days Hi 120 K 3,523 1,688
47,531 39,453

As at 31 March 2019, included in the Group's trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$26,955,000 which are past due as at the
reporting date. Out of the past due balances, HK$3,523,000
has been past due 90 days or more and is not considered
as in default based on good repayment records for these
customers and continuous business with the Group. The
Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are debtors
with aggregate carrying amount of HK$20,382,000 as at 31
March 2018, which are past due as at the reporting date for
which the Group has not provided for impairment loss as
the Group considered such balances could be recovered
based on historical experience. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

RZZE—hNhF=A=+—H &%
ENESRERBRBELEHBERDR
184 26,955,000 7% 7T K FE UL BR 5K -
RkEBHE A - D@l
# 3,523,000 7% T B #1 HI 90 X 8k
AE - EERBREFPHRFERE
BERAAEERFEETERMIE
WEABEY AEBEVWEREELS
BT AT REIRS o

FRARKEE ZRYIGRIAEHR SN
—E-N\F=ZA=+—HKRHEAER
20,382,000 B LR ETS A » R
SEHEEY  MAKELEE
FHEREBERE  RESLKE
RARBBELRZ S G A I
B - REBI EAZFEHRITEE
a3 3 e
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-_ZT-hF=A=1T—HILEFE

16. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continueq) 16. ESZRHEMEYWFKIEZ)
Ageing of trade receivables which are past due but not B ERBENE 5 ERFIER
impaired R

2018
—B-N\F
HK$’000
FEx

Overdue by: BEaHp
0 - 30 days 0E 30K 15,265
31 - 60 days 31 £60X 3,115
61 - 90 days 612 90K 830
Over 90 days BB 90 K 1,172
Total HBEt 20,382

Upon adoption of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018, the Group
applies the simplified approach to provide for ECL for trade
receivables. Trade receivables are assessed individually for
impairment allowance based on the historical credit losses
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions of the industry in which
the debtors operate and an assessment of both the current
as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the end of
each reporting period, including time value of money where
appropriate.

As at 1 April 2018, the directors of the Company reviewed
and assessed the Group’s trade receivables for impairment,
no additional credit loss allowance was recognised upon the
application of HKFRS 9 as the amount was considered as
insignificant.

The Group rebutted the presumption of default under ECL
model for trade receivables over 90 days past due based on
good repayment records for those customers and continuous
business with the Group. The assessment is regularly
reviewed by the management of the Group to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables for the year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in
Note 26.

RZZE-N\FHA—BRHNBEY
BHmELRFEORR - AEEEM
BT ERERE SR EAEE
EIEFHR B - 2 5 BUGIAIRE
BB 18 S B R (E 1 5 1
BIRRMG - Wi BES AL ERET
ER— RGN IA K3t B B K%
& B RO B TERIDT A P 1B RT
(BReENKREER) (WER)A
NS ERRELAE -

R-ZZE-N\FHA—H ARAE
s R AR B E 5 B WK
HERE - MRNRAT BT HEREE
RIS 95k 1& W B FERFSME BB 18
B REASBBEKIBEALIFERX -

ENZEEP N RIFE R8RS
AEENBEXBER  AEED
HEE B HE B0 H M & 5 e K
ARFEHMEEBEEEA THENRK
&AM EHAAREEEEEY
maf o ERESARFEEHAN
RAABER o

BHE_ZT-NAF=A=+—HILHF
BB 5 & H Al WK IE B R E T (4
FHIEETIMNMIEE26 -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019

HE-ZT—

17.

18.

NEF=ZRA=+—BIFE

AMOUNT DUE FROM (T0) AN ASSOCIATE
The amount due from an associate is non-trade in nature,
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

The amount of HK$469,000 (2018: HK$388,000) due to
Eastlink Marine is trade nature with an ageing within 30 days,
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable according to
the credit term.

TIME DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances carried interest at prevailing market banking
deposit rates which ranges from 0.01% to 0.90% (2018:
0.01% to 0.90%) per annum as at 31 March 2019.

Time deposits as at 31 March 2018 carried interest at fixed-
rate of 3.68% per annum.

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances for the
year ended 31 March 2019 are set out in Note 26.

17.

18.

Rk (B ) — I E D T FRRIEA
FE—RIB SRR REIEE 51t
B RIER - TH S RERERE
= o

FET SR ANE = A 8469,0008 L (=
T — )\ £ : 388,000/ L) WAKTEE
ZS5ME  BRRESORA RN + BEK
B TErEREREEIERE -

EHER RITEBRRRE
IRITREBRIRIRIT T IG RIT 7 3R &
R RZFE-hAhF=ZA=+—
B FFENT0.01%ZE0.90%(=
T— )\ : 0.01% £0.90%) °

R-ZZBE—N\HF=A=+—B" ' &H
FERIZEEFME3.68%:T 8 °

BE-_Z—hF=A=+—BHItF
Eﬁﬂmﬁﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁmﬁmm
M7E 26 ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
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19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 19. E5RHENFRIE
27 G
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Trade payables B S RN IR 15,387 16,800
Accrued expenses FERTRISE 7,866 4,781
Deposits received Bz 386 302
Other payables (Note) H th fE AT R IB (B EE) 2,261 12,555
Total trade and other payables B 5 N E M IR B 25,900 34,438
The credit period of trade payables is from 30 to 60 days from BoSRNRENERHBEEERH
the invoice date. FEFT30ZE60K °
Note: As at 31 March 2018, included in the Group’s other payables is an W - RZZT-—N\F=ZA=+—H " AKX
amount of HK$12,500,000 advanced from Kitling (BVI) and assigned to & B H i JiE 15 51 B & 2K B Kitling (BVI)
Novel Choice Ventures Limited (“Novel Choice”), a Pre-IPO investor who "9 3% 12,500,000 7T * W I5:% T B
is an independent third party. During the year ended 31 March 2018, BUYBR=HFNERXAHAEERNRES
Kitling (BVI) entered into a Pre-IPO investment subscription agreement FiERIRARAB([FHERR]) - &
with Novel Choice pursuant to which Kitling (BVI) issued an exchangeable 2T NF=ZA=+—RHLFE"
note to Novel Choice at a consideration of HK$12,500,000. Upon the Kitling (BVI) E2#T B EIR I & XA H
receipt of such consideration, Kitling (BVI) transferred such consideration HEMREREHZE - KRIL - Kitling
to the Group as an advance to the Group and assigned such advance (BV)RIFTEAIEZTAEBERE - R
to Novel Choice. The assignment will be fully discharged when this B 412,500,000 7T - RUKE| B AR
advance has been unconditionally and irrevocably paid in full or when the B  Kiting BV BB EEET
exchangeable note has been fully converted, whichever is earlier. The AEBERRAAEENRR  UKE
amount is unsecured, interest-free, and repayable on demand. R RIEETNEAR - WBEERK

BRI BN R R BB - 3K
AERRBORBBABR(UAREES
%) - AERERBTE2M®E - KBS
EEA - T EBRBREREE -

As at 18 March 2019, the assignment was fully discharged RZZE—NF=ZA+N\B  B@E
upon completion of the Listing and such advance would be R LETEKETEMHER - MEH
payable to Kitling (BVI). Immediately after the discharge of R ER F Kitling (BVI) - BEFEE:E
the assignment, Kitling (BVI) waived such advance which is fRER 1% © Kitling (BVI) B8R BFK&
accounted for as a deemed contribution to the Group in the THWER B AR RETFEHAEEREE o

capital reserve.
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HEZZT—

19.

20.

NEF=ZRA=+—BIFE

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 19. ESRHMEAFKIEZ)
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables based on REREHR  BEZXZEHNE
the invoice date at the end of each reporting period. SENRERERRSITAT -
2019 2018
—ZE-h#EF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Within 30 days 30 KA 7,145 7,940
31 to 60 days 31 E£60X 5,871 6,068
61 to 90 days 61 290K 1,306 2,281
91 to 120 days 912 120K 484 511
Over 120 days BiE 120K 581 —
15,387 16,800
BANK BORROWINGS 20. SRITER

As at 31 March 2018, the Group's secured bank borrowing
were denominated in HK$ and repayable within one year. The
amount carried at variable interest rate with reference to Hong
Kong Dollar Prime Rate minus a specific margin of the relevant
banks.

The effective interest rate of the Group’s borrowings as
at 31 March 2018 was 3.45% per annum. The Group’s
bank borrowings were guaranteed by the the Controlling
Shareholders of the Company as detailed in Note 24.

All the bank borrowings of the Group were repaid during the
year ended 31 March 2019.

R=B—\F=A=+—0 X%
bt 5 45 AR 15 DA PB TEBHE
WHR—FREE - BT EFE
AN
BEFRRETREDH S -

RZTE—N\F=A=+—8" Ni

F””E’J BERFEMNEE3.45% -
T EE 24 Frsfil - NEEARITE
TR AN B PR B SR AE AR o

%}:

AEBMMBRITERERE R
E-NF=A=1+— E¢¢E1Ei%
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HE_Z-NF=ZA=+—HItFE

21. DEFERRED TAXATION 21. BEEFIIE
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) NTAASBECEANETEETER
recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the BEBEEE)RARAFERBE
current and prior years are as follows: FEANE

Accelerated

tax

depreciation Tax losses Total

IEBIEITE BIEEE st

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FEx FER

At 1 April 2017 R_FE—tFMHA—H 3,794 (191) 3,603
Credit for the year (Note 9)  F R & (MI5E9) (168) 129 (39)
At 31 March 2018 M-E—\&E=A=1+—8 3,626 62) 3,564
Charge for the year (Note 9) SRR (FI5E9) 252 62 314
At 31 March 2019 RZZE—NF=A=+—H 3,878 = 3,878
|
At 31 March 2018, the Group had unused tax losses of RZZE—NF=ZA=+—H" ' &%
HK$377,000, available for offset against future profits. = %A R B) FAFIEE 8 377,000 %
Deferred tax assets had been recognised in respect of the tax TT ATAREERKESN - NEE
losses as at 31 March 2018. At 31 March 2019, the Group BN \EF=A=+—H8H#
has no unused tax losses available for offset against future BEEEERARCMEBEEREE -RN_F
profits. —NFE=A=+—8 ' xEEL&

EART R {52 PR A9 75 TR S 18 7T 4K 85 2K 2R

Al o
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22. SHARE CAPITAL

For the purpose of presentation of the consolidated
statements of financial position, the balance of share capital
of the Group as at 1 April 2017 represented the aggregate
share capital of the Entities comprising the Group attributable
to the Controlling Shareholders prior to the completion of the
Reorganisation.

The balance of share capital of the Group as at 31 March
2018 represented the share capital of Yun Lee (BVI) and the
Company.

The balance of share capital of the Group as at 31 March
2019 represented the share capital of the Company.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 21 February 2018
with an authorised share capital of HK$50,000 divided into
5,000,000 ordinary shares of par value of HK$0.01 each, of
which 1 fully paid ordinary share was transferred to Kitling (BVI)
from the initial subscriber at par value on 19 March 2018.

22. IRA

HEVNGEHBRRAERMS - &%
BR—Z—+tFMA—BMNRALE
4 /5 5 B2 48 55 K AT AR IR BRJE i AR
SENERRAHERE -

RZZE-N\F=RA=+—H &
[0 1) B 7 45 B BV ) (5288 4 R L B
5) MR RRBA -

R-ZFB-NF=A=+—H &&
BN 2 e NN N

RKABIR-_ZE—NF-_A=-_+—H
RE2 ﬁ%&ﬁﬁiﬁ*mﬁ%
B R AR EFERRAAS50,000

BT "Z%HXETEO.OL%EE’J
5,000,000 E @Ak - HFA1KRE
mEEBARERZ=_ZFT—N\F=A
THNEBEVERBEANAEBESEET
Kitling (BVI) °
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22. SHARE CAPITAL (Continueq) 22. BgA(#)
Share capital S

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each &% 0.01 & THY

Number of
shares

RDEE

Amount
-l
HK$
BT

Shown as
235
HK$°000
THET

Authorised EE
At date of incorporation and Rz BH &
31 March 2018 —E-NF
=A=+—H 5,000,000 50,000 N/A
Increase in authorised share IR 0.01 87T
capital of HK$0.01 each B TE B AR
(note i) GED) 4,995,000,000 49,950,000 N/A
At 31 March 2019 RIZE—NLF
=A=+—H 5,000,000,000 50,000,000 N/A
Issued and fully paid ERITRHZE
At date of incorporation i Ea i D AV =: 1 0.01 —
Issue of shares (note ii) 1M (MEEi) 9,999 99.99 —*
At 31 March 2018 RZZE—-—NF
=EH=r—E 10,000 100 =
Issue of shares (note i) BT (BaEii) 10,000 100 —*
Capitalisation issue (note iv) BT (Miakiv) 812,480,000 8,124,800 8,125
Issue of new shares in placing R E & 1T HAHD
(note v) (BH5EV) 187,500,000 1,875,000 1,875
At 31 March 2019 RZZE—NEFE
=A=1+—H 1,000,000,000 10,000,000 10,000

* Less than HK$1,000

*

1,000 7T
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22. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(i

(i)

(V)

The

On 20 September 2018, the Company passed a written resolution
pursuant to which authorised share capital of the Company was
increased from HK$50,000 divided into 5,000,000 shares of HK$0.01
each to HK$50,000,000 divided into 5,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.01
each by creation of an additional 4,995,000,000 shares.

On 19 March 2018, 9,066, 533 and 400 shares at the total consideration
of HK$90.66, HK$5.33 and HK$4.0 were issued and allotted to Kitling
(BVI), Mr. Cheung Tai Kee and Mr. Chow Wai Ming, respectively.

On 14 September 2018, in consideration of the transfer of the entire
issued share capital of Yun Lee (BVI) from Kitling (BVI), Mr. Cheung Tai
Kee and Mr. Chow Wai Ming to the Company, the Company allotted and
issued 9,067 Shares to Kitling (BVI), 533 Shares to Mr. Cheung Tai Kee
and 400 Shares to Mr. Chow Wai Ming, respectively.

On 15 March 2019, the Company capitalised an amount of
HK$7,624,800 standing to the credit of the share premium account
of the Company by applying such sum in paying up in full at par
762,480,000 shares and allotted and issued 50,000,000 shares at
par with an aggregate amount of HK$500,000, credited as fully paid,
to Novel Choice upon the exercise of the exchangeable note to Novel
Choice as detailed in Note 19.

On 18 March 2019, the shares of the Company were listed on the Stock
Exchange. 187,500,000 ordinary shares at an offer price of HK$0.50
were issued through share offer with gross proceeds of HK$93,750,000.

new shares issued rank pari passu with the existing

shares in all aspects.

22. BA(#)

(i)

(il

(iv)

P17

RZF-NFAA=Z+H XARF
BBEEMRER KU AAAK
A FE AN 150,000 T B F K
0.017% JT #5,000,0000% B {3 & B
& 5% # 51 4,995,000,000 % A% 17 34 =
50,000,000 7T % % & 12 0.017% 7T &Y
5,000,000,000 B fn

—NF=ZA+NAB  AREHH
[ Kitling (BVI) ~ SRR Sc 4 R EAERE T
A4 1T K% B 9,066 A% ~ 533 A% K 400
AR A% 1n - 42X E 5 5 /£90.667%8 It
5.33 LK 4.0 7T °

RZZE—N\FAA+IMA - {EAKitling
(BVI) » SRAE LA R EARALFERE
ﬂ(iﬁﬁfﬁaﬁ%)Aﬁﬁa);fééﬁ%z&%ma
AIERAE - 7% B[ Kitling (BVI) *
%Eﬁ%ﬁ%i&%@ﬂﬁ?ﬁi@ﬁ%&%ﬁ
9,067 A & 17 ~ 533 A% AR 17 K 400 & A%

% o

—NWE=F+HB * KAARBAK
A R AR5 i (B AR A 3 BR © %8 7,624,800
BLTFURERE AR AEEBRIE
FA 1 1= B & £ 8 2 762,480,000 %
% 15 B 30+ DA Ko a0 B 7 19 B 2t 74 ) 3
BARETHNIRRERETERAE
R EITIR E E 6 500,000 % 7T H)
50,000,000 Bz % 12 (A BR 5 E B 81 R iR
) TR -

—hE=A+NA AR 71&1

R P £ ° 187,500,000 f% &

R ERFEEEO. 50,%71%
ﬁ’%?xlﬁi%@ﬁﬁﬁ 93,750,000 7T °

?‘X

EY T AR A0 #8 7 FT G U T R 3R

BEBRMNEBRFMA -
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23. OPERATING LEASES 23. REHE
The Group as lessee AEBEEREEA
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had RS ER - NEBRIET ] #H
commitments for future minimum lease payments under non- KREHEHEB R K& EMEE A
cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows: EHRHIERNT

2019 2018
S5l ==
HK$’000 HK$’000
7 FHT

Within one year —FR 2,052 1,429
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_FEFERF(BIEERWE) 1,218 563
3,270 1,992
|
Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the KEHENREASERERAE
Group for its office property. These leases are negotiated MERNNES - KR %254
for an average term of one to three years with fixed monthly EFHAH—Z=2=FUTTHEEA

rental. None of the leases include any contingent rental. HeEHEaREANIAES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMEHRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE_Z-NF=A=+—HItFE

=

24. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 24. EANt AR
In addition to the transactions, balances and commitments BRBEMBERAMENRERN
disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, R5 ERRAEN  KEEBE]
the Group had entered into the following related party VYU TEBAERS

transactions:

Name of related

companies Relationship

ok pNCIR=E B8 1%

Nature of
transactions

REHE

Year ended 31 March
BE=-A=1+—-BHLFE
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THERT

Kee Marine Service &  Entity over which one Management fee income 360 360
Consultant Limited of the key management
personnel of the Group
has control
REBEAERLDA AKEHNHSR—F ERERWA
FTETEARY
ZEBAEGIE
Eastlink Marine Associate of the Group Management fee income 560 242
REE REE SR A ERERWA
Vessels chartering costs 5,309 3,563
fraARAE &R
Metro Key Investment  Entity over which Rental expense of a staff 132 123
Limited Mr. Wen has control lounge
CHRERARLAR REEHZERARGE BIREE=EERAX
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continueq)
Provision of guarantees and security provided by related parties of
the Group
Certain related parties of the Group have provided guarantees
to banks to support facilities granted by those banks to the
Group as follows:

e mRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE-_ZT-NF=A=+—HIFE

24, BARE S W (&)

REE AR S RAER R

AREBETHEB T CRRITIREE
RIA SR % FIRTT R A S B F
CLUNNE

2019 2018
=il - N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T

Mr. Wen and Ms. Chan (Note a) B A MRt (fita) 13,000 16,000

Mr. Wen (Note a), Mr. Chow Wai Ming 874 (Kista) ~ EERRLE
and Mr. Cheung Tai Kee (Note b) MR RESLAE(HiEDb) 5,000 5,000
18,000 21,000

Notes:
(@  Mr. Wen and Ms. Chan are the Controlling Shareholders.

(b)  Mr. Chow Wai Ming and Mr. Cheung Tai Kee are the key management
personnel of the Group.

In addition, as at 31 March 2019 and 2018, Mr. Wen and
Ms. Chan pledged their properties to a bank to secure
banking facilities of HK$13,000,000 granted to the Group. As
represented by the directors of the Company, the Group is in
the process of releasing the above guarantees and security
provided by related parties of the Group.

(@ BEERRLZLTRERBERE -

(b) ARPEERFEREREH/AEEE
ZEHRASR -

BN REZE—NEFERZZT—NF
—A=+—H8 BEEKRLZLM
—HARITERENEEAR TAE
| #9 13,000,000 % ST AR 1T BL & B9
B - HMARREZEN A%
B FERRAEBARTREN L
MR IR o
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24.

25.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued) 24. BANE A IREE (&)
Key management includes directors and senior management. TEEREREESRAMER
The remuneration of directors of the Company and other o MIREHAA  RARIEFRAK
members of key management of the Group during the SEXZEEREHMKE TN
reporting period was as follows: I
2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FEx
Salaries and other allowances e REMERL 4,879 4,237
Performance related incentive payments RIRAE R BB - 150
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RRTEFET SR 42 41
4,921 4,428
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 25. EXEBER

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to the shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes the bank borrowings disclosed in Note 20, net of
cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of
the Company, comprising share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associate
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors of the Company, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of
existing debts.

AR E B A AR AL E Y
MEBBEREAE  REEBE
EEBRRATHRTEEERE
B - AREHBBERA F—F
DA SRS T o

AEENEAREREERFER -
HBERWME208 BB RTER
(R LReFEY) UEAR
A ARG (BB A M H
=

ARREZTEHMIAERNRE - 1F
RzBAN—8D  AREEEE
BEBREARAHEBANE KA LE
R REARREEZNHEBER -
AEEREBMNRE - BITHR
AR BTHERHLBRIRBERF
BEBEBERRE -
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 2. €FMTH

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FExT
Financial assets SREE
Loans and receivables (including ER&EWRFIE(RE
cash and cash equivalents) RERREEEY) N/A B A 82,640
Financial assets at amortised cost REHEKAGTENEREE 165,359 N/A TNE A
Financial liabilities SRAE
Amortised cost BRI AR 18,117 30,351

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, amount due from (to) an associate,
time deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and
other payables and bank borrowings. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes of
consolidated financial statements. The risks associated
with certain of these financial instruments and the policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(i) Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank balances (see Note
18 for details) and variable-rate bank borrowings (see
Note 20 for details). The Group’s cash flow interest
rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
interest rates on bank balances, Hong Kong Dollar
Prime Rate arising from the Group’s Hong Kong
dollar denominated borrowings. It is the Group’s
policy to keep its borrowings at floating rate of
interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate
risk.

AEENTIE2ERMTABTER
Z M E b YRR - ()
—HBELRRE EHF
R RITEBRRAEUNES
Ko B At FE A FRIA S SRTT B 5K
ZETRTANFBREN S
BV BWMEMENE - ZFS
MTAMETHBERR NG
ARART IR A 5% 5 B ez B SR R B
wr - EEEEEREEZS
RO - R EEAEREE
EERE

TS E R

(i) FIEmpbz
ALY RYBIRITAE
HRGEER2HME18) R
FRIBITER(FIEFELH
20 BN RERE
FMEREER - AEENRE
MEMNEXEREEET R
RITEHNE - AAKE
A7 TTRHE R B FE £ 7Y
BILRBEMNERRE - K
BV R SR B
FEZEENE  NRER

ERFEMERER
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

()

(i)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for variable-
rate bank balances and bank borrowings. The
analysis is prepared assuming that the amount of
assets and liabilities outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year. 50 basis point increase or decrease represent
the management’s assessment of the reasonable
possible change in interest rates of bank deposits
and bank borrowings.

If the interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant,
the potential effect on the Group's post-tax profit
for each of the year ended 31 March 2019 would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$488,000
(2018: HK$159,000).

Foreign currency risk

The Group has no significant foreign currency risk
as all of the operations of the group entities are
denominated in HK$ which is also the functional
currency of the relevant group entities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations
at the end of the reporting period in relation to each class
of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of
these assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures over the customers to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In
addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of
each individual debt at the end of each reporting period
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group's credit risk is
significantly reduced.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group has concentration
of credit risk as 18% (2018: 19%) of the total trade
receivables was due from the Group's largest customer.
The Group's concentration of credit risk on the top five
largest customers accounted for 67% (2018: 68%). The
management of the Group considers that the credit risk
of amounts due from these customers is insignificant after
considering their historical settlement record and credit
quality.

The management of the Group considers that the credit
risk on amount due from an associate is limited as at
31 March 2018 because they can closely monitor the
repayment of the associate.

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-_ZT-hF=A=1T—HILEFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Upon adoption of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018, the Group
applies the simplified approach to provide for ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the
lifetime expected loss provision for trade receivables.

As at 31 March 2019, management assessed the
expected loss on trade receivables (which is measured
at lifetime ECL) with gross carrying amount of
HK$47,531,000 individually by estimation based on
historical credit losses experience, general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate
and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the end of each
reporting period, including time value of money where
appropriate.

In addition, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that there has no default occurred for trade
receivables past due 90 days and the balances are still
considered fully recoverable due to long term/on-going
relationship and good repayment record from these
customers. Accordingly, no loss allowance on ECL is
recognised during the year as the amount is considered
as insignificant.

In determining the ECL for other receivables (which is
measured at 12m ECL) with gross carrying amount of
HK$845,000 as at 31 March 2019, the management
of the Group has taken into account the historical
default experience and forward-looking information, as
appropriate, for example, the Group has considered the
consistently low historical default rate in connection with
payments, and concluded that credit risk inherent in the
Group's outstanding other receivables is insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The management of the Group considers the bank
balances (which is measured at 12m ECL) with gross
carrying amount of HK$116,976,000 as at 31 March
2019 that are deposited with the financial institutions with
high credit rating to be low credit risk financial assets.
The management of the Group considers that the bank
balances are short-term in nature and the probability
of default is negligible on the basis of high-credit-rating
issuers, and accordingly, loss allowance was considered
as insignificant.

Other than the concentration of credit risk on liquid
funds which are deposited with several banks with gross
carrying amount to HK$116,976,000 as at 31 March
2019 with high credit ratings, the Group does not have
any other significant concentration of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties.

Liguidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests
with the management, which has built an appropriate
liquidity risk management framework for the management
of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and
liquidity requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk
by maintaining adequate reserves and borrowing facilities
and continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash
flows.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required
to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings with a repayment
on demand clause as at 31 March 2018 are included
in the earliest time band regardless of the probability of
the banks choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity
dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are based
on the agreed repayment dates.

For the year ended 31 March 2019
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Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited JE#/g =& @B R AR
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMEmRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BHE_T-NF=A=+—HIFE

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continuea) 26. £ T H (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continueq) h) £FEREEEERBEKZ)
Liguidity risk (Continued) TEBELEE(E)
Liquidity risk tables mEBE LA
On demand
or less than
Weighted 1 month
average and total 1 month Total
effective undiscounted o undiscounted Carrying
interest rate cash flows 3 months cash flows amount
S8R REER
¥ RARER 18R E RERE
ERFE RERBLE 318 A #E REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% THET THET TR TR
At31 March2019  RZZT—-N%F
=A=+-H
Non-derivative FTESHER
financial liabilities
Trade and other B9 REMER
payables B - 15,030 2,618 17,648 17,648
Amount due to B — R
an associate AAFIE - 469 - 469 469
15,499 2,618 18,117 18,117
At31March2018  RZE—-N\¥
=R=+—H
Non-derivative FTESRER
financial liabilities
Trade and other B9 REMER
payables HIE - 25,774 3,581 29,355 29,355
Amount due to B — &
an associate AR - 388 - 388 388
Bank borrowings RITER 3.45 608 - 608 608
26,770 3,581 30,351 30,351



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Liguidity risk (Continuead)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
were included in the "on demand or less than 1 month"
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 March
2018, the aggregate undiscounted principal amounts
of these bank borrowings amounted to HK$608,000.
Taking into account the Group's financial position, the
directors of the Company did not believe that it was
probable that the bank will exercise their discretionary
rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors of
the Company believed that such bank borrowings will be
repaid after the end of the reporting period in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements, details of which were set out in the table
below:

For the year ended 31 March 2019
HE-_ZT-NF=A=+—HIFE
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Maturity analysis - bank borrowings with a repayment
on demand clause based on scheduled repayments

FHO - RIEE

SR

2 FARER HYER1T &R

Total
Less than undiscounted Carrying
1 year 1 - 2years 2-5years  cash outflow amount

RERRE
DR1EF 122F 2E5F RHEBAH REE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHERT THET THET THET THET

31 March 2018 —Z—\F

=A=1+—-H 615 = = 615 608

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The management of the Group considers that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial
statements approximate their fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMEmRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2019
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27. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING 2]. MERHIELENEELHER

ACTIVITIES

The tables below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows
as cash from or used in financing activities:

TRHEMAEEREEDELNE
ERH(RERSRIERSED) -

B

RETHELANABERACRES
RUKARBESREMRURALE
BHEaRERERIBRBER
BASAMARERENAE

Amount Amount
Amount Amount due to due to
Bank due to due to a controlling Novel Dividend Accrued
borrowings directors an associate  shareholder Choice payable issue costs
BN EN-F
A BEAs ERRR  EAHE KRBT
BITER  EBNE I FE  ARFRE EARE B it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR THET TR TEx TR T TR
(Note)
(Ff&E)
At 1 April 2017 R=ZE—tFmA-H 6,901 8,609 2,870 = = = = 18,380
Financing cash flows BERETE (6,299) (10,614) (2,870) 12,500 - (10,000) (849) (18,126)
Non-cash changes FREED
Dividend declared BEERRE - - - - - 22,100 - 22100
Set off with amounts due HEl/ ENEEHE
from/to directors HKsH (M 29)
(Note 29) - 2,005 - - - (12,100) - (10,095)
Assignment of advance from B —RERBRBH
acontroling shareholder (KizE29)
(Note 29) - - - (12,500) 12,500 - - -
Accruals of issue costs ZEBIIRA = - - - - - 1,124 1,124
At 31 March 2018 RZF-\E=A=+-AH 608 = = = 12,500 = 275 13,383
Financing cash flows BERETE (608) - - - - - (10,150) (10,758)
Non-cash change 35 1)
Discharge of assignment of BB —ARIRIRER A
advance (Note 19) #3(f19) - - - 12,500 (12,500) - - -
Waive of advance from HE-BRRREEN
acontroling shareholder (HzE19)
(Note 19) = = = (12500 = = = (12,500
Setflement of issue costby  — R IEREREERLT
acontroling shareholder KA (FizE29)
(Note 29) = = = 275 = = 0,275) =
Capital contribution from —RBRRREEE
a controling shareholder - = = (2,275) = = = (2,279)
Accruals of issue costs REBIIRA = - - - - - 12,402 12,402
At 31 March 2019 RZF-NE=A=+-AR = = = = = = 252 250

Note: Dividend payable is included in other payables.

BieE : BEAARSF AHMEMFE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
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28. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 28. fIBARER
Details of the subsidiaries of the Company as at the end of the KRNBRBERROKBE AR ER
reporting period are as follows: R

Place and Issued and fully
date of paid share/ Attributable equity interest
incorporation/ registered to the Company
Name of subsidiaries establishment capital Directly Indirectly Principal activities
GEAYE EEfR AEEELER
il PER: RUBHRAH HrEx Bk 3 IEXK
2019 2018 2019
it Sk —2-\F ek — %)\ F
Yun Lee (BV) BVI US$10,000 100% 100% = — Investment holding
16 November 2018
EN(AEAERES) ABLBRES 10,000%7 REABR
ZE-N\E+-A15A
KMY Marine (Note &) Hong Kong HK$13,500 = = 100% 100%  Provision of vessel
25 September 2007 chartering services
KMY Marine (¥ a) B 13,5007 REMARERE
“RRLENAZTEA
MKK Marine (Note b) Hong Kong HK$20,000 = = 100% 100% Provision of ship
22 August 2014 management services
MKK Maring (Fif3£b) (3 2000077 RRAERRE
“Z-MENAZTZA
Yun Lee Tug Boat Hong Kong HK$120,000 = - 100% 100%  Provision of vessel
(Note c) 15 November 1994 chartering and
related services
Bt (frc) (30 120,000 %7 REMHEER
—hARE+-ATEA S
Universal Marine Hong Kong HK$10,000 = - 100% 100%  Investment holding
6 December 2002
FHiEE (30 10,0007 REMER
“ZECETIARA
Yun Lee Marine Hong Kong HK$10,000 = - 100% 100%  Provision of vessel
30 January 2009 chartering and
related senvices
ENgE (30 10,0007 REMHESR
“ZENE-A=TA il
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
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28. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continuea)

Notes:

(@)

Pursuant to a shareholders’ agreement entered into on 5 December
2012 among Mr. Wen, Mr. Ng Wing Yiu and Mr. Chow Wai Ming, Mr.
Wen has sufficiently dominant voting interest to direct the relevant
activities of KMY Marine as Mr. Wen has the right to appoint and remove
any directors from time to time and he is entitled to a casting vote in all
decisions of the board of directors of KMY Marine. In addition, Mr. Ng
Wing Yiu and Mr. Chow Wai Ming vested all the management rights
and decision-making powers in respect of KMY Marine in Mr. Wen. The
directors of the Company concluded that the Group has a control over
KMY Marine since the shareholders’ agreement dated on 5 December
2012 to 27 December 2017.

On 5 December 2017, 66.67% of the issued share capital of KMY
Marine was acquired by Mr. Wen. Since then, KMY Marine is considered
as with 100% attributable to the Group. KMY Marine became 100%
subsidiary of the Group on 27 December 2017 upon the completion of
Reorganisation.

At date of incorporation, 22 August 2014, the initial subscribers of MKK
Marine were Mr. Wen and Mr. Cheung Tai Kee, holding 50% and 50%
equity interest respectively. Pursuant to a shareholders’ agreement
entered into on the same day among Mr. Wen and Mr. Cheung Tai Kee,
Mr. Wen has sufficiently dominant voting interest to direct the relevant
activities of MKK Marine as Mr. Wen has the right to appoint and remove
any directors from time to time and he is entitled to a casting vote in
all decisions of the board of directors of MKK Marine. In addition, Mr.
Cheung Tai Kee vested all the management rights and decision-making
powers in respect of MKK Marine in Mr. Wen. The directors of the
Company concluded that the Group has a control over MKK Marine. On
28 July 2015, MKK Marine issued and alloted 1,000, 3,000 and 6,000
new shares with a consideration of HK$1,000, HK$3,000 and HK$6,000
to Mr. Wen, Mr. Cheung Tai Kee and Mr. Chow Wai Ming, respectively.
The equity interest held by Mr. Wen was reduced from 50% to 30%.
MKK Marine is considered as a subsidiary of the Group although the
Group holds 30% equity interests in MKK Marine. Pursuant to a revised
shareholders’ agreement entered into on 28 July 2015 among Mr. Wen,
Mr. Cheung Tai Kee and Mr. Chow Wai Ming, Mr. Wen has sufficiently
dominant voting interest to direct the relevant activities of MKK Marine
as Mr. Wen has the right to appoint and remove any directors from time
to time and he is entitled to a casting vote in all decision of the board of
directors of MKK Marine. In addition, Mr. Cheung Tai Kee and Mr. Chow
Wai Ming vested all the management rights and decision-making powers
in respect of MKK Marine in Mr. Wen. The directors of the Company
concluded that the Group has a control over MKK Marine since the
shareholders’ agreement dated on 22 August 2014 to 27 December
2017.
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28. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 28. B RRIER (£&)
Notes: (Continued) Misx - (&
On 27 December 2017, 70% of the issued capital of MKK Marine was RZZE—t+tF+=ZA=++tR8 " B
acquired by Yun Lee (BVI). Since then, MKK Marine is considered (EB#R RS )E K MKK Marine
as with 100% attributable to the Group. MKK Marine became 100% 70% B BT A o 51tk © MKK Marine
subsidiary of the Group on 27 December 2017 upon the completion of WAR BRAEBEL100% - EATEMK
the Reorganisation. % MKK MarineR =—Z—tF+=A

Z+EAKAEAEE100% B AR -

(©)  On 9 October 2017, 45% of the issued capital of Yun Lee Tug Boat was ) RZZT—tF+ANA BEEBHE
acquired by Mr. Wen. Since then, Yun Lee Tug Boat is considered as R HESE 45% B BHITA - Bt - BF
with 100% attributable to the Group. Yun Lee Tug Boat became 100% MW R AR AEEREIL100% - B4R
subsidiary of the Group on 27 December 2017 upon the completion of EKE O BRERR T —tF+=A
the Reorganisation. Z+EBAKAREE100%HE AR °

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non- MEEXRHERESNIEZENE

controlling interests YNGIEES

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned TREINAEEES ERIFEARE

subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling =RIIEEEHBRRFES :

interests:

Place of
incorporation
and principal  Proportion of ownership
place of interests held by Profit allocated to Accumulated
Name of subsidiaries business non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests  non-controlling interests

AR X
WHRTE FEREREE PREFERER
WELREH BN BERERLA A Rt FERER
31 March 31 March 31 March

=A=t+-H =RA=t+-H =RA=t+-H
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
- 2R —T-)\F EEElykl -\ ik —T-\F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TERT TR TERT TERT TR THRT

KMY Marine Hong Kong N/A N/A N/A 418 N/A N/A
BB TER @R TER TER TEH
MKK Marine Hong Kong N/A N/A N/A 3,151 N/A N/A
B T~ER TEm TER TER NEm
Yun Lee Tug Boat Hong Kong N/A N/A N/A 202 N/A N/A
ki BB TEA NEmH TER TER @R
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28. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 28. B ARIER &)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non- BEEAREERESNIEZENE
controlling interests (Continueq) NEIFEE)
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the ERBEEEAERENARE
Group's subsidiaries that has material non-controlling interests FE &M B A BB 5 & B E &5
is set out below. The summarised financial information below WMT e FTIMBERBERERA
represents amounts before intragroup eliminations. NRIFEEHAI 25 o

From 1 April
Year ended 2017 to
ANV ElI M 5 December
2019 2017
SEN Tt F
—ZE-NF A—HZ
=HB=+—H —E—+fF
IFE +=-BAEH
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FERT
KMY Marine KMY Marine
Current assets mENEE N/A ~EA N/A i@
Non-current assets EMBEE N/A RiEA N/A “Nig 3
Current liabilities nRBBE N/A FER N/A @A
Non-current liabilities ERBAE N/A RiEA N/A i@
Equity attributable to owners of RAEHERE AELER
the Company N/A ~EA N/A &
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR M A N/A FiEA N/A i@ A
Revenue WA N/A RiEA 1,963
Expenses X N/A RiEA (1,336)
Profit and total comprehensive income FE /R &
for the year/period T HEHNEBERE N/A ~EA 627
Profit and total comprehensive income RARHER AEE R R
attributable to owners of the Company R BEE N/A RiEA 209
Profit and total comprehensive income AR R A FE A B I 2
attributable to non-controlling interests FHRZBEE N/A RiEA 418
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28. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 28. ffBARIER (&)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non- BEEXRHERESNIEZEKS
controlling interests (Continuea) DEIEEE)

From 1 April
Year ended 2017 to
<aNVEICL 5 December
2019 2017
SRl H-F—tF
—E-hEF A—H=Z
=A=+—8 —E—+tF
LHEE +=RBA&H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FERT

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests B KMY Marine 3E42 %
of KMY Marine RS N/A FER —
Net cash inflow from operating activities KEEEIREMAFRE N/A RiEA 873
Net cash outflow from investing activities REEBR ML FRE N/A RiEA =
Net cash outflow from financing activities BEEEBR e ML FE N/A RiEA =
Net cash inflow BERAFR N/A TiE 873

2019
—EB-hF

HK$’000

FET

2018
—E-N\F

HK$'000
FET

MKK Marine MKK Marine

Current assets mBEE N/A T i N/A 71 F
Non-current assets SEMBNE E N/A T3 A N/A 713 F
Current liabilities nRBAG N/A FER N/A T~iE
Non-current liabilities FERBAE N/A &R N/A i
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ZNA ml# A A &Gz N/A RERA N/A T~iE A
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR = N/A RiEA N/A @ A
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28.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-

controlling interests (Continued)

MEATER &)
BEEXFEZERESNFZEME

DEFE(E)

28.

From
1 April
2017 to
27 December
2017
H=-Z—+tfF
A—RHZ
—E—tF
+=A
—B-NhEF =t+tH
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEx
Revenue WA N/A TEA 19,341
Expenses 53 N/A FEA (14,840)
Profit and total comprehensive income FE /R R
for the year/period FEHWNEBRE N/A ~EA 4,501
Profit and total comprehensive income NGB AR
attributable to owners of the Company RN En N/A TEA 1,350
Profit and total comprehensive income FE 2 A e 2 FE A Vi 1) K2
attributable to non-controlling interests FHENEERE N/A RiEA 3,151
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 2 MKK Marine
of MKK Marine FEIERE R AR R N/A FER 5,250
Net cash inflow from operating activities KL ESIHSMAFRE N/A RiEA 9,210
Net cash outflow from investing activities wEEEIR M FRE N/A ~EA (90)
Net cash outflow from financing activities BB EEIR ML FE N/A RiEA (3,939)
Net cash inflow MEMANFE N/A RiEA 5,181
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28. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 28. ffBARIER (&)
Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non- BEEXRHERESNIEZEKS

controlling interests (Continueq) AEEEEE)

2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET

Yun Lee Tug Boat ek alkicE o)

Current assets mBEE N/A T3 N/A i@ A
Non-current assets JEMBNE E N/A FEH N/A i@ A
Current liabilities EIE=RI N/A F~ER N/A 73
Non-current liabilities ERBEE N/A FER N/A 73
Equity attributable to owners of the Company XA Bl# A A E{G N/A RER N/A 73 B
Non-controlling interests FEVEAR N/A REHA N/A i@
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28.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-

controlling interests (Continued)

28. MIBARIERN (&)
BEEARFERESNIEZTEHE

DEFE(E)

From
1 April
2017 to
9 October
2017
H=Z—tHF
A—RHZ
—E—tHF
—E-hE +ARH
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FERT
Revenue WA N/A RiEA 3,205
Expenses M N/A RiEA (2,757)
Profit and total comprehensive income F[ZHREF &
for the year/period EEREEE N/A RiEA 448
Profit and total comprehensive income PiN/NSIEF DN eyt
attributable to owners of the Company PRt L N/A ~EA 246
Profit and total comprehensive income FEE R 2 FE 4G i A1) 2
attributable to non-controlling interests EEREEE N/A RiEA 202
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests EADE N E R TR
of Yun Lee Tug Boat AR R N/A RiEA —
Net cash inflow from operating activities KEEEIRSMAFE N/A RiEA 183
Net cash outflow from investing activities REZBHR S ML FE N/A RER (387)
Net cash outflow from financing activities MEEHRE R L FE N/A RiEH (72)
Net cash outflow WE ML FRE N/A RiEA (276)
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29. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2018, Yun Lee (BVI) acquired
40% of the issued share capital of Eastlink Marine from Mr.
Wen was consideration of Yun Lee (BVI) allotting and issuing
its own 123 shares with par value of US$1 each of Kitling (BVI).

During the year ended 31 March 2018, among the dividend
declared by Yun Lee Marine amounted to HK$12,100,000,
HK$10,095,000 was used to set off the amounts due from
directors and the balance of HK$2,005,000 was settled
through amounts due to directors.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, a balance with
amount of HK$12,500,000 due to a controlling shareholder
was assigned to an independent third party and included in
other payables. During the year ended 31 March 2019, the
assignment was fully discharged upon completion of the
Listing. Immediately after the discharge of the assignment,
Kitling (BVI) waived such advance which is accounted for as
a deemed contribution to the Group in the capital reserve.
Details are set out in Note 19.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, certain transaction cost
attributable to issue of new shares amounted to approximately
HK$2,275,000 had been paid by Kitling (BVI) and Kitling (BVI)
waived such balance and regarded as a deemed contribution
to the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-_ZT-hF=A=1T—HILEFE

29. FEFMERS

HE_ZT—\E=-ZA=+—HL®=F
- BAN(EBERRES)EME
EERBRMBEFI0%E BEITR
KN REFSBF(ABERRES)
M Kitling (BVI) g8 K& 317123 I8 H
Ny EREE1 TR

HE-_ZTZ—N\FE=ZA=+—H81
FE -BFNBEMERESEAR
£12,100,0007% 7T & f& B & -
10,095,000 % 7t © A 1A 1K 8 B I
= 7K I8 ¢ 2,005,000 JT B & £
FREMNESHIBEEN -

Bz Z—NEFE=A=+—HI&F
€ - £%/512,500,000 7% 7T & & {F
— AR RAHREEETE LS
=HVEAEMEMNFIE - BEZ
TE-hF=-ZA=+—HLEFE" &
BEEN TR B T2 MG - B
BEFE EARRR 12 © Kitling (BVI) BA %
BRRIMEHAEBAEE - R
BAGEER - SFBEERNWE19 -

HE_ZT—NE=-A=+—HL®=F
B BOFTRONELGNETRS
B AN 492,275,000 Jt E B Kitling
(BVI) 2+ » M Kitling (BVI) 2 #% A
SRR EEEAREERRETE o
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
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30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 30. URBHERZNARRXS

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 20 September 2018 by the
Company, a share option scheme of the Company (the “Share
Option Scheme”) that complies with the provisions of Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules was adopted.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to recognise and
acknowledge the contributions that the eligible participants
have had or may have made to the Group. The eligible
participants include any employee, directors, advisers,
consultants, suppliers, customers and agents to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries.

The exercise price for any share under the Share Option
Scheme shall be a price determined by the board of directors
of the Company and shall not be less than the highest of:
(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet for trade in one or more
board lots of the shares on the offer date of the relevant
option, which must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is
open for the business of dealing in securities (a "Trading Day");
(i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the five Trading
Days immediately preceding the offer date of the relevant
option; and (jii) the nominal value of a share on the offer date.
For the purpose of calculating the subscription price where the
Company has been listed for less than five Trading Days, the
offer price of the shares shall be used as the closing price of
the shares for any Trading Days falling within the period before
the listing date.

The Share Option Scheme will expire on 19 September 2028.

BEARATR-_E—NFALAZ-T
HBBRRER  AQARM—IB
FE EWARAIE A7 E SR IE R E
ETEl(T IRk iR &) -

BREFINENRRTRREAE
BERSEEFEDMASEFELSHA B
ERRNEEELNER - A &
M2EEBRABSETMNHER
BAINERET - EF - BEH - &H
A HER - TRERREA

Bt &8 T EMRONITEES
REARBEZTEBEENER  BF
BERATEENZSE : ()N
REEBREZORB(ARE:
BEMIAEARERMEE—F
2% F A P ERE W (E ¢ () Bt
REEZEEBREZO R B RE
EXBEBI TR RERARD
FHWRTE R (i) ROREL B H
MEE - RAERIR LEHERDR
TERZEMNREE BRENEE
BREESLETHERAMNERNZZHEA
BREZH Y TIE o

BREFEBNR - _-_N\FNLA
TABEIE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (Continuea)

An option shall be deemed to have been granted and
accepted by the grantee and to have taken effect when the
duplicate offer document constituting acceptance of the
options duly signed by the grantee, together with a remittance
in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration
for the grant thereof, is received by the Company within such
time as may be specified in the offer (which shall not be later
than 21 days from the offer date).

The exercise of any option shall be subject to the
Shareholders' general meeting approval for any necessary
increase in the authorised share capital of the Company.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme established by the Company, if
any, is 100,000,000, representing 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company at the date of approval of the Share
Option Scheme. The total maximum number of shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme, if any, shall not
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company.

No share options have been granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption.

30.

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BE-_ZT-hF=A=1T—HILEFE

UiRBBER2ARRXS (&)
ARARBHIF] BEERRERE (5
EREZEQBHYE21 B ) REHR A
RALARZBNEABRENR
MXIFEA - BRMN FAREN.00
BITZRBRERE L BRIENR(E
% BEEARGIFEREREE
RN -

EAERENTEYALERRE
HOE - DB R R ADEE B ©

BIRERET S R AR RRLHE
fo] E B AR M 5T &I AT RE X RO BB
KRiERENESROEE(WE)
7%$100,000,000 % - 18 & 5 iE Bz 1
STEE R AR R B BITRAMN
10% ° 1T{F AR AE 5T 8l R (T K b
BREESETHNMBEERE AR
TEBEREMAEZEITNR=RKRHG
BE(MB )T SBBAARREET
AEAH 10% ©

R - 17 - IR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019
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31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE 3. MBRKARRAEQFHE
COMPANY

2019 2018
=l - \F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FET

Non-current asset kRBEE

Investment in a subsidiary R—REH BRI RE 63,504 —

Current assets REEE

Other receivables H b & IR = 1,124

Amount due from a subsidiary B U — R B A B 3 E 2,639 —

Bank balances and cash RITHEBR AR E 77,163 -
79,802 1,124

Current liabilities REAE

Other payables H fth JE T 508 1,508 1,100

Amount due to subsidiaries FEAT BB A B 508 13,003 3,910
14,511 5,010

Net current assets (liabilities) RBEE(AE)FEE 65,291 (3,886)

Net assets BEFE 128,795 (3,886)

Capital and reserves EXRf#EE

Share capital & 25 10,000 —*

Reserves ] 118,795 (3,886)

Total Equity S 128,795 (3,886)

Less than HK$1,000 * 1,000 7T
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31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE 3. BMBERRAREAQTBHEZE)
COMPANY (Continuea)
Movement in the Company's reserves

YNGR AR )

Share Capital Accumulated
premium reserve loss Total
RGRE EREE 2itEE et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET FET
At incorporation SR A S B = — — —
Loss and total HAREER
comprehensive expense ZHERXZ B
for the period = = (3,886) (3,886)
At 31 March 2018 RZZE—\F
=A=+—A — — (3,886) (3,886)
Effect of reorganisation BHETE 63,504 — — 63,504
Capitalisation issue B AR EETT (8,125) - — (8,125)
Issue of new shares TR EITHAR G
upon listing 91,875 = = 91,875
Transaction cost attributable #7521k A&
to issue of new shares (13,526) = = (13,526)
Loss and total FEEBEER
comprehensive expense ZHEX LA
for the year = = (15,681) (15,681)
Deemed shareholder RIERFEE
contribution = 4,634 = 4,634
At 31 March 2019 R-E—NF
=A=+—H 133,728 4,634 (19,567) 118,795
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FOUR-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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Yun Lee Marine Group Holdings Limited JE#/& Al

A summary of the results and assets, liabilities and equity of
the Group for the last four financial years, as extracted from the
Prospectus and the published audited financial statements, is set
out below. This summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

RESULTS

2019

—E-hE

HK’000

FTHAT

Revenue Wiz 181,010

Gross profit el 54,155

Listing expenses A% 14,596
Profit for the year attributable to AREE=FFE AR

equity holders of the Company FRDREF 11,753

AR AEEBRERERETEEERZ
BERREBENEMRFEZXEN
BE ABRERBIHINMT o N4
R TMERREZMERRZ 8D °

eS|

2018 2017 2016

“B-N\E S®-tF —B-AF
HK’000 HK’000 HK’000
TR FER  FER
213,048 190,392 148,373
60,978 50,494 32,266
3,886 - -
32,398 22,162 10,644

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

2019

—E2-hE

HK’000

FHxT

Non-current assets FERBEE 32,380

Current assets REEE 176,117

Total assets BEE 208,497

Current liabilities mEaE 26,765

Net current assets REEEFE 149,352

Total assets less current liabilities BEERRDERE 181,732

Net assets BEFE 177,854
Equity attributable to equity holders ~ ANR AIHER B A

of the Company FE(h iR 177,854

BE - Sf5R#ED
2018

2017 2016

—®-N\F —B—tf —B-XF
HK’000 HK’000 HK’000
FEn  FEn  FEn
28,661 27,309 21,641
85,267 83,270 62,957
113,928 110,579 84,598
41,621 54,027 37,933
43,646 29,243 25,024
72,307 56,552 46,665
68,743 52,949 43,397
68,743 43,367 36,780
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